



Cyngor Gwledig LLANELLI Rural Council

Clerc i'r Cyngor
Mark Galbraith A.C.I.S.
Clerk to the Council

Adeiladau Vauxhall, Vauxhall, Llanelli, Sir Gaerfyrddin, SA15 3BD
Vauxhall Buildings, Vauxhall, Llanelli, Carmarthenshire SA15 3BD
Ffon / Tel.: 01554 774103
E.bost / E.mail: enquiries@llanelli-rural.gov.uk

Fy nghyf:
My ref:

Eich cyf:
Your ref:

Gofynnwch am:
Please ask for:

5 Tachwedd, 2025

Annwyl Gynghorydd

Gelwir arnoch i gymryd rhan mewn Cyfarfod o'r **CYNGOR** a gynhelir yn Siambr y Cyngor, Adeiladau Vauxhall, Llanelli, a thrwy bresenoldeb o bell ar Ddydd Mawrth, 11 Tachwedd, 2025, 6.00 y.h.

Yr eiddoch yn gywir

CLERC y CYNGOR

AGENDA

1. Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.
2. Derbyn Datganiadau o Fudd Personol gan Aelodau o ran y materion sydd i'w trafod.
3. Cyfranogiad y Cyhoedd – cyfle i aelodau'r cyhoedd ofyn cwestiynau a chyflwyno sylwadau am unrhyw eitem o fusnes sydd i'w thrafod yn ystod cyfarfod heddiw ac sy'n agored i drafodaeth gyhoeddus. Mae eitemau busnes cyfrinachol wedi'u heithrio.
4. (1) Cadarnhau ac arwyddo'r Cofnodion canlynol fel cofnod cywir o'r cyfarfod:-

Y Cyngor	14 Hydref, 2025	Tud. Rhif: 105 - 108
Y Pwyllgor Polisi ac Adnoddau	15 Hydref, 2025	Tud. Rhif: 109 - 111
Y Pwyllgor Lles a Hamdden	21 Hydref, 2025	Tud. Rhif: 112 - 117
Y Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Chyswllt	27 Hydref, 2025	Tud. Rhif: 118 - 120
Y Pwyllgor Dinesig a Seremonïol	30 Hydref, 2025	Tud. Rhif: 121
Y Pwyllgor Ymgynghorol Datblygiad a Dysg	30 Hydref, 2025	Tud. Rhif: 122 - 124

- (2) Ystyried unrhyw faterion sy'n codi o'r Cofnodion er gwybodaeth yn unig.

Mae Cyngor Gwledig Llanelli yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg
Llanelli Rural Council welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English



5. Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor – ynhellach i Gofnod Rhif 180, derbyn adroddiad y Clerc ynghylch adolygiad cyffredinol Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor, yn cynnwys Rheolau Sefydlog a Rheolau Ariannol.
6. Cytundeb Lefel Gwasanaeth Cynnal a Chadw Tir - Maniffesto Gwasanaeth Safonol rhwng Cyngor Cefn Gwlad Llanelli a Chyngor Tref Llanelli - i awdurdodi a thystiyo y rhaglen wedi'i diweddarw wedi'i pharatoi i gefnogi'r Gwasanaethau Cynnal a Chadw Tir, Cytundeb Lefel Gwasanaeth
7. Nodi er gwybodaeth amserlen o'r materion a nodwyd.
8. Nodi, er gwybodaeth, llythyrau o ddiolch a dderbyniwyd gan y canlynol:-
 - (1) Cerebral Palsy Cymru;
 - (2) Holy Trinity Pwll;
 - (3) Llanelli Amateur Athletic Club.



Cyngor Gwledig LLANELLI Rural Council

Clerc i'r Cyngor
Mark Galbraith A.C.I.S.
Clerk to the Council

Adeiladau Vauxhall, Vauxhall, Llanelli, Sir Gaerfyrddin, SA15 3BD
Vauxhall Buildings, Vauxhall, Llanelli, Carmarthenshire SA15 3BD
Ffon / Tel.: 01554 774103
E.bost / E.mail: enquiries@llanelli-rural.gov.uk

Fy nghyf:
My ref:

Eich cyf:
Your ref:

Gofynnwch am:
Please ask for:

5 November, 2025

Dear Councillor

You are summoned to participate in a **COUNCIL** Meeting to be hosted at the Council Chamber, Vauxhall Buildings, Vauxhall, Llanelli, and via remote attendance on Tuesday, 11 November, 2025 at 6.00 p.m.

Yours sincerely

CLERK to the COUNCIL

AGENDA

1. To receive apologies for absence.
2. To receive Members' Declarations of Interest in respect of the business to be transacted.
3. Public Participation – an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions and make representations about any item of business to be transacted during today's meeting and which is open for public discussion. Confidential items of business are excluded.
4. (1) To confirm and sign the following Minutes as a true record of proceedings:-

Council	14 October, 2025	Page Nos: 105 - 108
Policy and Resources Committee	15 October, 2025	Page Nos: 109 - 111
Recreation and Welfare Committee	21 October, 2025	Page Nos: 112 - 117
Planning and Liaison Committee	27 October, 2025	Page Nos: 118 - 120
Civic and Ceremonial Committee	30 October, 2025	Page No: 121
Learning and Development Consultative Committee	30 October, 2025	Page Nos: 122 - 124

- (2) To consider any matters arising from the Minutes for information purposes only.



Mae Cyngor Gwledig Llanelli yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg
Llanelli Rural Council welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English



5. Council Constitution – further to Minute No. 180, to receive the Clerk's report regarding the general review of the Council's Constitution including Standing Orders and Financial Regulations.
6. Ground Maintenance Service Level Agreement - Standard Service Specification between Llanelli Rural Council and Llanelli Town Council - to authorise and attest the updated schedule prepared in support of the Grounds Maintenance Services, Service Level Agreement.
7. To note for information the schedule of matters reported.
8. To note for information, letters of appreciation received from the following:-
 - (1) Cerebral Palsy Cymru;
 - (2) Holy Trinity Pwll;
 - (3) Llanelli Amateur Athletic Club.

To the Chairman and Members of Council

Date of meeting: 11 November 2025

Dear Councillor

GENERAL REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL CONSTITUTION INCLUDING STANDING ORDERS AND FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

- 1.1 To present members with the latest review of the council constitution including extant standing orders and financial regulations.

2. BACKGROUND

- 2.1 The last general review of the constitution was conducted in 2022 with the council adopting it on 8 March 2022.
- 2.2 It is necessary to conduct a review on a periodic basis to reflect any changes brought about by legislation. It is also good practice to review council standing orders and financial regulations (forming part of the constitution) periodically to ensure they remain fit for purpose. Auditors will often check when the last review was conducted and will comment if it is felt a review is necessary. This is particularly the case for standing orders in relation to contract values so that they keep pace with threshold values associated with the Procurement (Wales) Regulations 2024 (as amended) and currency fluctuations brought about by inflation.

3. REVIEW

- 3.1 In accordance with Standing Order 38.2, a proposal to permanently add, vary or revoke a standing order shall when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the council. This requirement was met at the council meeting held on 14 October 2025, when notice was served of the intention to conduct a general review (to which Minute No. 180 refers).
- 3.2 All sections of the constitution have been reviewed. Where changes have been made they have been identified on the marked up copy of the constitution accompanying this report.

4. LONG TERM IMPLICATIONS

- 4.1 It is important to conduct periodic reviews to make sure council documents remain fit for purpose long into the future. The changes proposed will provide the necessary confidence the constitution remains as up to date as possible.

5. SUSTAINABILITY AND WELL-BEING CONSIDERATIONS

- 5.1 Reviewing the council constitution supports the following aims, core values and well-being goals:

Strategic Aim	Core Value	National Well-Being Goal						
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Community Development	CD7, CD8			✓	✓	✓		✓
Serving the Public	STP1, STP6, STP7	✓				✓		
Acting as a Local Voice								
Quality of Life								
(1) Environment	QL1	✓	✓	✓		✓		✓
(2) Social Inclusion								
(3) Safe and Healthy Places								
Sports, Leisure and Cultural Activities								
The Local Economy								
Local Democracy	LD1, LD2, LD3				✓	✓		✓
Partnership Working								
Communication	C1, C5, C7	✓				✓		
Health and Safety								
Resources	R2		✓					✓
Management and Control	MC5	✓			✓			✓

6. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT

- 6.1 There are no public involvement opportunities to be identified in preparing this report. Most of the council's rules and procedures are borne out of legislative requirements which either impose duties or powers on the council to take various actions. However, having an up to date constitution will provide members of the public with important information about the council and its operational arrangements. This provides greater public accountability and transparency in respect of the council's business activities and its decision making arrangements.
- 6.2 The constitution is a public document. Members of the public will be able to quickly determine how the council goes about making decisions and what it must do to comply with the law.

7. COLLABORATION OPPORTUNITIES

- 7.1 There are no collaboration opportunities associated with the generation of this report.

8. PREVENTATIVE MEASURES/CONSIDERATIONS

- 8.1 Carrying out a general review of the constitution helps to ensure the council's general governance arrangements remain in good order.

- 8.2 Having a constitution provides a clear framework over which the council can be held to public account. Documenting procedures will drive up operational standards, providing the electorate with better value for money from the council going forward.

9. RECOMMENDATION

- 9.1 That members accept the changes set out in the amended constitution attached to this report.

I look forward to receiving your views at the meeting.

Yours sincerely,

CLERK TO THE COUNCIL

5 November 2025



LLANELLI RURAL COUNCIL

CONSTITUTION

Reviewed and adopted at a Council meeting held on
Tuesday, 11 November 2025

Deleted: 8

Deleted: March 2022

INDEX

	Page
SECTION 1	
Introduction	4
Background, Profile and Status	4
Decision Making and the Delegation of Powers	5
Conducting Business	6
Meetings and Procedure of the Council	6
SECTION 2	
Standing Orders	10
SECTION 3	
Role and Duties of Chairman of Council	25
SECTION 4	
Selection Process and Role of the Leader of Council	28
SECTION 5	
The Composition and Cycle of Committees	30
The Terms of Reference of Committees	32
SECTION 6	
Clerk's Scheme of Delegated Powers	38
SECTION 7	
Members' Code of Conduct – an overview	44
SECTION 8	
Code of Conduct for Employees	50
SECTION 9	
Member Officer Protocol	56
SECTION 10	
Financial Regulations	69

SECTION 1

INTRODUCTION

This constitution sets out how the council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that decision making is accountable, open and transparent.

At the heart of this document is the council's standing orders and financial regulations. The constitution sets out:

- The decision making powers of the council and its committees/sub-committees.
- The rules and procedures to be followed by the council and its committees/sub-committees when transacting business.
- Standing orders and financial regulations.
- The role and duties of the Chairman of Council.
- The selection process and role of the Leader of Council.
- Composition of committees.
- Terms of reference of committees.
- The scheme of delegation to the Clerk.
- Members' Code of Conduct – an overview.
- Code of Conduct for Employees.
- Member/Officer Protocol.

BACKGROUND PROFILE AND STATUS

Llanelli Rural Council is a community council. The council came into being on 1 April, 1974, following local government re-organisation and as a consequence of the Local Government Act 1972. Parliament has given the council power to raise and spend money – a power shared by other local authorities.

As a community council this tier of local government is closest to the people. In Wales subordinate to the Senedd Cymru (Welsh Parliament), there are only two tiers of local government: the town or community council sector and the unitary authorities (i.e. the county or county borough councils).

The council's geographic area is approximately 26.78 square miles and surrounds the urban centre of Llanelli. Its boundaries extend from the Loughor estuary in the east to Burry Port in the west and skirts the Gwendraeth valley in the north. The council's administrative area is made up of the villages and communities of Bynea, Cwmbach, Cynheidre, Dafen, Felinfoel, Five Roads, Furnace, Llwynhendy, Ponthenri, Pontiets (part only), Pwll, Sandy and Swiss Valley.

The council consists of 21 elected members representing seven electoral wards comprising Bynea, Dafen, Felinfoel, Glyn, Hengoed, Pemberton and Swiss Valley. The members individually contribute to the work of the whole council by:

- suggesting ideas;
- engaging in constructive debate;
- responding to the needs and views of the community;
- representing their constituents;
- behaving in an ethical way and being open about interests;
- commenting on proposals to ensure the best outcome; and
- voting – to enable the council to make decisions.

Commented [MG1]: Membership will increase by one additional councillor at the May 2027 local government elections, where the membership will then stand at 22 councillors because of the extra seat created for the Bynea Ward.

Members are elected to office and normally serve on the council for a term of five years. The council is a body corporate with perpetual succession. As a body corporate the council is a person and is distinct from its members (either as individuals or collectively) for the time being. Its lawful acts, assets and liabilities are its own and not those of its members. The council remains in uninterrupted existence from the moment of its creation, even if all its members vacate office, or if its membership falls so low that it is unable to act for want of a quorum.

Law determines what the council must do (its duties), what it can choose to do (its powers) and what it cannot do. Law empowers the council to act; it underpins its procedures and finances and governs relationships with other local bodies, groups and organisations that the council chooses to work with in the community.

The council can undertake an activity only when a specific Act of Parliament, or a Measure or Act of the Senedd Cymru (Welsh Parliament) allows it. If the council acts without a legal power or if it uses the wrong power to act, then the council could be charged with acting beyond its powers.

The most useful power open to the council is the General Power of Competence. The power allows qualifying (eligible) community and town councils to do anything that an individual generally may do and it can be considered a power of first resort. This means the council can use the power for a commercial purpose or to trade in its ordinary functions or to support the local economy; it can give grants to individuals or fund projects outside its area (even outside Wales). To use the power the council must first resolve that it is an eligible community council at one of its full council meetings. The council is then required to review its eligibility at its next annual meeting. If the council wishes to continue using the power then it must annually review its eligibility by passing a resolution that it continues to meet the three conditions that community and town councils must meet to be an eligible community council.

If the council elects not to resolve that it as an eligible community council then it cannot use the General Power of Competence, instead it must look for specific powers confirming that it can act. If a specific power can't be found then the council does have a limited power to incur expenditure which in its opinion is in the interest of, and will bring direct benefit to its area or any part of it or all or some of its inhabitants. However, the use of this power is restricted to the spending limits set out under the Local Government Act 1972, Section 137, and the benefit obtained must be commensurate with (in proportion to) the expenditure incurred. The council cannot use the Section 137 power if there is a specific power that applies to the function in question or area of spending, or if it resolves itself eligible to use the General Power of Competence.

DECISION MAKING AND THE DELEGATION OF POWERS

Whenever the council conducts business it must ensure that the decisions it takes are both lawful and reasonable. It cannot use unlawful practices and procedures to make a decision nor should it act beyond its powers.

Under specific powers contained in the Local Government Act 1972, Section 101, the council may arrange for the discharge of any of its functions by a committee, a sub-committee, an officer of the council or by any other local authority.

Given the business of the council is quite varied it has chosen to discharge most (but not all) of its functions by authorising its various committees and where appropriate its sub-committees to make decisions on its behalf. The extent of the delegation of powers to these bodies is set

out under their terms of reference and is referred to in council standing orders later. The council has also established a scheme of delegation to the Clerk to enable the individual to make urgent decisions in between the cycle of committee and sub-committee meetings and for dealing with day to day managerial and office matters, which would not normally be reported to the council for a decision. The scheme also forms part of the council's standing orders. Individual members are not able to make a decision on behalf of the council – not even the Leader or Chairman of Council as this is unlawful.

CONDUCTING BUSINESS

The council conducts its business by the Clerk convening formal council and committee meetings to which members are summoned to attend. These meetings are supported by formal agendas compiled, authorised and authenticated by the Clerk which specify the business to be transacted.

The council has appointed standing committees (committees which meet on an on-going basis) which enjoy delegated powers to make decisions on the council's behalf. However, where a committee has no delegated power to make a decision on behalf of the council when exercising specific functional responsibilities, it will instead make 'recommendations' to the council as opposed to passing 'resolutions'.

The council's standing committees meet at 4.45 pm on a monthly cycle as follows:

Finance and General Purposes Committee	-	the last Wednesday of the month
Planning and Liaison Committee	-	every third Monday
Policy and Resources Committee	-	the third Wednesday of the month
Recreation and Welfare Committee	-	the third Tuesday of the month

MEETINGS AND PROCEDURE OF THE COUNCIL

GENERAL

- 1.1 The council by law must meet annually. In an ordinary election year of community councillors, the annual meeting must take place on, or within fourteen days after the day on which the councillors elected at that election take office. In any other year it may be held on any day in May as the council may determine.
- 1.2 In addition to the annual meeting, the council may hold such number of other meetings (known as ordinary meetings) as deemed necessary for the transaction of its business. Such meetings may be held by virtue of council standing orders, or may be specially convened. Council meetings are held at 6.00 pm on the second Tuesday of every month (except August).
- 1.3 An ordinary meeting is called by the Clerk in pursuance of statutory rules or under standing orders and includes a meeting convened by the individual to elect the Chairman of Council when a casual vacancy has arisen in the chair.

- 1.4 The council must make and publish arrangements for its meetings to ensure they can take place in a manner which enables people who are not in the same place to meet. Under these arrangements, meetings must be capable of being held remotely (multi-location) but meetings are not required to be held in a particular way. Whether they are held remotely or entirely face to face is a matter for the council.
- 1.5 The council is required by law to ensure that meeting participants (councillors, members of the public and press) are able to join meetings remotely – even if physical, face to face meetings are the preferred mode. The council is not permitted to resolve that all of its meetings will be held entirely on a physical face to face basis. Details of the council's meeting arrangements are published on its website and public notice board.

NOTICE OF MEETINGS

- 1.6 At least three clear days (not including the days of issue and meeting) before a council meeting takes place, or if the meeting is convened at shorter notice at the time it is convened, a notice of the time and place of the meeting will be displayed on the council's website and public notice board. However, the chairman of a committee or sub-committee can call a meeting at 24 hours' notice if a matter to be discussed is considered to be urgent.
- 1.7 In addition to the public notice, the Clerk (as proper officer) will authorise and authenticate and serve a summons on every member to attend, specifying the business to be transacted (agenda).
- 1.8 The summons must be sent to members electronically. However, if a member wishes to receive the summons as a written paper copy rather than electronically, the member must give notice in writing to the Clerk and specify the postal address to which the summons should be left at or sent by post. The business specified in it (the agenda) will be presented in such a way so the member who receives it can identify the matters to be discussed. The council cannot lawfully decide any matter which is not specified in the summons.

DECISIONS

- 1.9 Every item of business included on a meeting agenda requiring a decision must be decided by a majority of those members present and voting thereon. In the case of an equality of votes the Chairman has a casting vote, as well as an original vote.

MINUTES AND MEETING NOTES

- 1.10 The council has a duty by law to keep a record of its meetings otherwise known as minutes of its proceedings. Minutes are formal records of decisions taken and are not meant to be a verbatim record of a whole meeting. Some background context of the decision taken may be necessary. Minutes must be signed/authenticated at the same or the next following meeting by the presiding Chairman. The council's minutes are recorded on loose leaves and are consecutively numbered.
- 1.11 The minutes are signed/authenticated as to their accuracy. It is not permitted to reopen discussion on a decision recorded in the minutes (e.g. under matters arising) unless there is a specific item on the agenda relating to that decision.

- 1.12 To expedite the work of its committees/sub-committees the council receives and confirms the accuracy of the minutes generated from those bodies on a cyclical basis at its next following monthly meeting.
- 1.13 Not later than seven working days of a council or committee/sub-committee meeting, the council must publish electronically a note setting out: the names of the members who attended the meeting, and any apologies for absence; any declarations of interest; and any decisions taken at the meeting, including the outcome of any votes. This requirement does not apply to any council business taken in private or where disclosure would be detrimental to acting on those decisions.

ADMISSION TO MEETINGS

- 1.14 The Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 Section 1, extended by the Local Government Act 1972 Section 100, provides that meetings of the council (including committees/sub-committees) shall be open to the press and public. Provision is made for excluding the public and press by resolution when confidential business is being considered (or for other special reasons stated in the resolution) and publicity would be prejudicial to the public interest. As a general rule of thumb some items, such as staff details, tendering discussions, contractual negotiations, legal proceedings and sensitive disputes should not be discussed in public.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

- 1.15 The council is required to facilitate public participation at its full council meetings but this requirement does not apply to its committee and subcommittee meetings. Public participation does not mean that members of the public can take part in debate, but they must be given a reasonable opportunity at the beginning of the meeting to ask questions or make representations about the business to be discussed or transacted at the meeting and which is open for public discussion. Confidential business is excluded. Council officers and invited guests may speak during meetings.

SECTION 2

LLANELLI RURAL COUNCIL

STANDING ORDERS

PREFACE

These Standing Orders were reviewed and adopted by the council at its meeting held on 11 November 2025.

Deleted: 8 March 2022

Some of the Standing Orders are compulsory as they are laid down in Acts of Parliament. These are printed in **bold type**. These Standing Orders cannot be altered.

Wherever the masculine gender is used in this publication, this should be interpreted as also meaning the feminine gender, where appropriate.

1. MEETINGS

- 1.1 Normal council meetings shall be held on the second Tuesday of each month (excluding August) at 6.00 pm.
- 1.2 Special meetings of the council may be called as and when necessary and at any time.
- 1.3 **A special meeting of the council may be called at any time by the Chairman of Council.**
- 1.4 **If the Chairman refuses to call a special meeting of the council after a requisition for that purpose, signed by two members of the council, has been presented to him or if, without so refusing, the Chairman does not call a special meeting within seven days after such a requisition has been presented to him, any two members of the council, on that refusal or on the expiration of those seven days, as the case may be, may forthwith convene a special meeting of the council.**
- 1.5 **All council meetings (including committee and sub-committee meetings) shall take place in a manner which enables participants who are not in the same place to meet, with the minimum requirement that council members are able to hear and be heard by others. Meetings may be held remotely (multi-location), or entirely face to face but it shall be open to participants (i.e. council members, members of the public and press) to be able to join meetings remotely if they so wish, irrespective of whether the council's preferred meeting format is to hold meetings on a physical face to face basis.**
- 1.6 The council, when deciding which meetings may be held wholly remotely and/or with physical provisions, shall consider the circumstances of individual councillors and their preference in the way they participate in meetings; how members of the public are able to access meetings; the accessibility of the press to enable wider public debate and accountability; and how telephony and other technology can be used to support and facilitate multi-location meetings which is proportionate to the circumstances.
- 1.7 **Public participation at the beginning of full council meetings or part of meetings which are open to the public is permitted. The person presiding over the full council meeting must give members of the public in attendance a reasonable**

opportunity to make representations about any non-confidential business to be discussed at the meeting, unless doing so is likely to prejudice the effective conduct of the meeting.

- 1.8 Notices of meetings shall be published on the council's noticeboard and published electronically at least three clear days before the meeting. However, the chairman of a committee or sub-committee can call a meeting at 24 hours' notice if a matter to be discussed is considered to be urgent. If the meeting is held remotely the notice shall provide details about how to access the meeting, and the time and place of the meeting. The place may be omitted if the meeting is held by remote means only.
- 1.9 Smoking is not permitted on the council's premises.
- 1.10 The use of mobile phones and other forms of modern technology shall only be permitted at the discretion of the Chairman. All devices must be switched off prior to the commencement of the meeting unless such devices are being used to participate in the meeting remotely.
- 1.11 The use of electronic or internet based social media messaging outlets as a means to communicate live feeds of meetings or to capture photographs and audio and video recordings of meetings shall only be granted with the consent of the Chairman. Such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 1.12 Meetings and functions are part of the business of the council and members should wear an appropriate standard of dress when attending such events.

2. THE STATUTORY ANNUAL MEETING

- 2.1 In a year which is a year of ordinary elections of community councillors, the Annual Council Meeting shall be held on or within 14 days after the day on which the councillors elected at that election take office and in a year which is not an election year the Annual Council Meeting shall be held on such day in May as the Council may direct.

3. CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING

- 3.1 The person presiding at a meeting may exercise all the powers and duties of the Chairman of Council in relation to the conduct of the meeting.
- 3.2 A schedule of duties to be undertaken by the Chairman of Council is summarised in Section 3 of this constitution.

4. PROPER OFFICER

- 4.1 Where a statute, regulation or order confers functions or duties on the proper officer of the council in the following cases, he shall be the clerk or nominated officer: -
- To receive declarations of acceptance of office.
 - To receive and record notices disclosing interests at meetings.
 - To receive and retain plans and documents.

To sign notices or other documents on behalf of the council.

To receive copies of bylaws made by another local authority.

To certify copies of bylaws made by the council.

To authenticate and issue the summons to attend meetings of the council.

To keep proper records for all council meetings.

5. QUORUM OF THE COUNCIL

5.1 One-third of the total membership shall constitute a quorum at meetings of the council.

5.2 If a quorum is not present or if during a meeting the number of councillors present (not counting those debarred by reason of a declared interest) falls below the required quorum, the meeting shall be adjourned and business not transacted shall be transacted at the next meeting or on such other day as the Chairman may fix.

5.3 For a quorum relating to a committee or sub-committee, please refer to Standing Order 26.3.

6. VOTING

6.1 Members shall normally vote by show of hands but the council may choose a form of voting depending on the meeting arrangements if meetings are being held remotely (multi- location meetings) or because of a combination of physical face to face and remote attendance.

6.2 If a member so requires, the Clerk shall record the names of the members who voted on any question so as to show whether they voted for or against it. The names of the members who abstained shall also be recorded. Such a request must be made before moving on to the next business.

6.3 Subject to 6.4 and 6.5 below the Chairman may give an original vote on any matter put to the vote, and in any case of an equality of votes may give a casting vote whether or not he gave an original vote.

6.4 If the person presiding at the annual meeting would have ceased to be a member of the council but for the statutory provisions which preserve the membership of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman until the end of their term of office he may not give an original vote in an election for Chairman.

6.5 The person presiding must give a casting vote whenever there is an equality of votes in an election for Chairman.

7. ORDER OF BUSINESS

7.1 At each Annual Council Meeting the first business shall be:-

a) To elect a chairman of the council

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

- b) To receive the ~~chairman's~~ declaration of acceptance of office or, if not then received, to decide when it shall be received.
- c) In the ordinary year of election of the council to fill any vacancies left unfilled at the election by reason of insufficient nominations.

Deleted: C

- d) To decide when any declarations of acceptance of office which have not been received as provided by law shall be received.

- e) To elect a ~~vice-chairman~~ of the ~~council~~.

Deleted: V

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

- f) To receive the Vice Chairman's declaration of acceptance of office or, if not then received, to decide when it shall be received.

- g) In the year of ordinary elections of the ~~council~~ to confirm the Leader of Council. The selection process and role of Leader is summarised in Section 4 ~~of this constitution~~.

Deleted: C

- h) To appoint committees.

- i) To appoint representatives to outside bodies.

- j) Whenever applicable to annually review and resolve whether the council is an eligible community council for the purposes of using the General Power of Competence.

7.2 At every meeting other than the Annual Council Meeting the first business shall be to appoint a ~~chairman~~ if the ~~chairman~~ and ~~vice-chairman~~ ~~are~~ absent.

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

7.3 After the first business has been completed, the order of business, unless the council otherwise decides on the ground of urgency, shall be as follows:-

Deleted: V

Deleted: C

Deleted: be

- a) To receive apologies for absence.

- b) To receive members' declarations of interest in respect of the business to be transacted.

- c) To facilitate public participation at full council meetings by providing members of the public a reasonable opportunity to make representations about the business to be transacted at the meeting and which is open for public discussion. Confidential business is excluded.

- d) To read and consider the Minutes; provided that if a copy has been circulated to each member not later than the day of issue of the summons to attend the meeting, the Minutes may be taken as read.

- e) After consideration of accuracy, to approve the authentication of the Minutes by the person presiding as a correct record.

- f) To deal with business expressly required by statute to be done.

- g) To dispose of business, if any, remaining from the last meeting.

- h) To receive such communications as the person presiding may wish to lay before the council.
- i) To answer questions from councillors.
- j) To receive and consider reports and minutes of committees.
- k) To receive and consider resolutions or recommendations in the order in which they have been notified.
- l) To authorise the sealing of documents.
- m) Other business specified in the Summons.

8. VARIATION OF ORDER OF BUSINESS

8.1 A motion to vary the order of business annotated on the agenda:

- a) May be proposed by the chairman or by any member and, if proposed by the chairman, may be put to the vote without being seconded, and
- b) Shall be put to the vote without discussion.

9. RESOLUTIONS MOVED ON NOTICE

9.1 Except as provided by these Standing Orders, no resolution may be moved unless the business to which it relates has been put on the Agenda by the Clerk or the mover has given notice in writing of its terms and has delivered the notice to the Clerk at least 5 clear days before the next meeting of the council.

9.2 The Clerk shall insert in the summons for every meeting all notices of motion or recommendations properly given in the order in which they have been received unless the member giving a notice of motion has stated in writing that he intends to move at some later meeting or that he withdraws it.

9.3 If a motion or recommendation specified in the summons is not moved either by the member who gave notice of it or by any other member, it shall, unless postponed by the council, be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh notice.

9.4 If the subject matter of a motion comes within the province of a committee of the council, it shall, upon being moved and seconded, stand referred without discussion to such committee or to such other committee as the council may determine for report; provided that the chairman, if he considers it to be a matter of urgency, may allow it to be dealt with at the meeting at which it was moved.

9.5. Every motion or recommendation shall be relevant to some subject over which the council has power or duties, which affects its area.

10. MOTIONS MOVED WITHOUT NOTICE

10.1 Motions dealing with the following matters may be moved without notice:-

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: C

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: RESOLUTIONS

Deleted: Resolutions

- a) To appoint a chairman of the meeting.
- b) To correct the Minutes.
- c) To approve the Minutes.
- d) To alter the order of business.
- e) To proceed to the next business.
- f) To close or adjourn the debate.
- g) To refer a matter to a committee.
- h) To appoint a committee or any members thereof.
- i) To adopt a report.
- j) To authorise the sealing of documents.
- k) To amend a motion.

Deleted: C

- l) To give leave to withdraw a motion or amendment.
- m) To extend the time limit for speeches.
- n) To exclude the press and public. (see Order 34 below)
- o) To silence or eject from the meeting a member named for misconduct. (see Order 14 below)
- p) To give the consent of the council where such consent is required by these Standing Orders.
- q) To suspend any Standing Order. (see Order 38 below)
- r) To adjourn the meeting.

Deleted: resolution

11. QUESTIONS

- 11.1 A member may ask the Chairman of the Council or the Clerk any question concerning the business to be transacted at the meeting.
- 11.2 No questions not connected with business under discussion shall be asked.
- 11.3 Every question shall be put and answered without discussion.
- 11.4 A person to whom a question has been put may decline to answer.

12. RULES OF DEBATE

- 12.1 No discussion of the Minutes shall take place except upon their accuracy. Corrections to the Minutes shall be made by resolution and must be initialled by the chairman.

Deleted: C

12.2 A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been proposed and seconded, and, unless proper notice has already been given, it shall, if required by the chairman, be reduced to writing and handed to him before it is further discussed or put to the meeting.

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: C

12.3 A member when seconding a motion or amendment may, if he then declares his intention to do so, reserve his speech until a later period of the debate.

Deleted: resolution

12.4 A member shall direct his speech to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or to a question of order.

12.5 No speech by a mover of a motion shall exceed 5 minutes and no other speech shall exceed 3 minutes except by consent of the council.

Deleted: resolution

12.6 An amendment shall be either:-

a) To leave out words.

b) To leave out words and insert others.

c) To insert or add words.

d) An amendment shall not have the effect of introducing a new proposal into or of negating the motion before the council.

Deleted: resolution

e) If an amendment is carried, the motion, as amended, shall take the place of the original motion and shall become the motion upon which any further amendment may be moved.

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: resolution

f) A further amendment shall not be moved until the council has disposed of every amendment previously moved.

g) The mover of a motion or of an amendment shall have a right of reply.

Deleted: resolution

h) A member, other than the mover of a motion, shall not, without leave of the council, speak more than once on any motion except to move an amendment or further amendment, or on a point of order, or in personal explanation, or to move a closure.

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: resolution

i) A member may speak on a point of order or a personal explanation. A member speaking for these purposes shall be heard forthwith. A personal explanation shall be confined to some material part of a former speech by him which may have been misunderstood.

j) A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the proposer with the consent of the council, which shall be signified without discussion, and no member may speak upon it after permission has been asked for its withdrawal unless such permission has been refused.

k) When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved except the following:-

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: resolution

- i. To amend the motion.
- ii. To proceed to the next business.
- iii. To adjourn the debate.
- iv. That the question be now put.
- v. That a member named be not further heard.
- vi. That a member named leave the meeting.
- vii. That the motion be referred to a committee.
- viii. To exclude the public and press.
- ix. To adjourn the meeting.

Deleted: resolution

12.7 A member may remain seated when speaking unless requested to stand by the chairman.

Deleted: C

12.8 The ruling of the chairman on a point of order or on the admissibility of a personal explanation shall not be discussed.

Deleted: C

12.9 Members shall address the chairman. If two or more members wish to speak, the chairman shall decide who to call upon, but with due deference being given to the Leader of Council at all times. If the Leader indicates a wish to speak, the chairman shall invite the Leader to address the meeting prior to inviting other members to speak.

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

12.10 Whenever the chairman speaks during a debate all other members shall be silent.

Deleted: C

13. CLOSURE

13.1 At the end of any speech a member may, without comment, move "that the question be now put", "that the debate be now adjourned" or "that the council now adjourns". If such motion is seconded, the chairman shall put the motion but, in the case of a motion "that the question be now put", only if he is of the opinion that the question before the council has been sufficiently debated. If the motion "that the question be now put" is carried, he shall call upon the mover to exercise or waive his right of reply and shall put the question immediately after that right has been exercised or waived. The adjournment of a debate or of the council shall not prejudice the mover's right of reply at the resumption.

Deleted: C

Deleted: do

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

14. DISORDERLY CONDUCT

14.1 All members must observe the Code of Conduct which was adopted by the council on **15 May, 2008** (Minute No 40 refers) and as subsequently amended on **12 April 2016** (Minute No 469 refers), an overview of which is included in Section 7 of this constitution.

14.2 No member shall at a meeting persistently disregard the ruling of the chairman, wilfully obstruct business, or behave irregularly, offensively, improperly or **in such a manner as to bring the council into disrepute**.

Deleted: C

14.3 If, in the opinion of the chairman, a member has broken the provisions of paragraph 14.2 of this Order, the chairman shall express that opinion to the council and thereafter any member may move that the member named be no longer heard or that the member named do leave the meeting, and the motion, if seconded, shall be put forthwith and without discussion. **If a member reasonably believes another member is in breach of the code of conduct, that member should report the breach to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.**

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

14.4 If either of the motions mentioned in paragraph 14.3 is disobeyed, the chairman may adjourn the meeting or take such further steps as may reasonably be necessary to enforce them.

Deleted: C

15. RIGHT OF REPLY

15.1 The mover of a motion shall have a right to reply immediately before the motion is put to the vote. If an amendment is proposed the mover of the amendment shall be entitled to reply immediately before the amendment is put to the vote. A member exercising a right of reply shall not introduce a new matter. After the right of reply has been exercised or waived, a vote shall be taken without further discussion.

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: resolution

16. ALTERATION OF MOTION

Deleted: RESOLUTION

16.1 A member may, with the consent of his seconder, move amendments to his own motion.

Deleted: resolution

17. RESCISSION OF PREVIOUS RESOLUTION

17.1 A decision (whether affirmative or negative) of the council shall not be reversed within six months except either by a special resolution, the written notice whereof bears the names of at least 11 members of the council, or by a resolution moved in pursuance of the report or recommendation of a committee.

17.2 When a special resolution or any other resolution moved under the provisions of paragraph 17.1 of this Order has been disposed of, no similar resolution may be moved within a further six months.

18. VOTING ON APPOINTMENTS

18.1 Where more than two persons have been nominated for any position to be filled by the council and of the votes given there is not an absolute majority in favour of one person, the name of the person having the least number of votes shall be struck off the list and a fresh vote taken, and so on until a majority of votes is given in favour of one person.

19. DISCUSSIONS AND RESOLUTIONS AFFECTING EMPLOYEES OF THE COUNCIL

19.1 If at a meeting there arises any question relating to the appointment, conduct, promotion, dismissal, salary or conditions of service, of any person employed by the council, it shall not be considered until the council or committee (as the case may be) has decided whether or not the press and public shall be excluded. (see Order 34 below)

20. RESOLUTIONS ON EXPENDITURE

- 20.1 Unless the proposed expenditure forms part of the budget plan, any resolution (which is moved otherwise than in pursuance of a recommendation of the Finance and General Purposes Committee and which, if carried, would, in the opinion of the Clerk or Responsible Financial Officer (RFO), substantially increase the expenditure upon any service which is under the management of the council or reduce the revenue at the disposal of any committee shall, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the council, and any committee affected by it shall consider whether it desires to report thereon.

21. SEALING OF DOCUMENTS

- 21.1 A document shall not be sealed on behalf of the council unless its sealing has been authorised by a resolution.
- 21.2 The council's Common Seal shall alone be used for sealing documents. It shall be applied by the proper officer in the presence of the chairman who shall sign the document as a witness.

Deleted: C

22. COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES

- 22.1 The council may at its Annual Meeting appoint standing committees and may at any other time appoint such other committees as are necessary, but subject to any statutory provision in that behalf:-
- a) Shall not appoint any member of a committee so as to hold office later than the next Annual Meeting.
 - b) May appoint persons other than members of the council to any committee; and
 - c) May subject to the provisions of Order 17 above at any time dissolve or alter the membership of any committee.

- 22.2 The chairman and leader, ex-officio, shall be voting members of every committee and sub-committee.

Deleted: C

Deleted: L

- 22.3 Every committee shall at its first meeting before proceeding with the business to be transacted, elect a chairman and a vice-chairman who shall hold office until the next Annual Meeting of the council.

Deleted: C

Deleted: V

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

23. COMPOSITION AND CYCLE

- 23.1 The composition and cycle of committees is detailed in Section 5 of this constitution.

24. TERMS OF REFERENCE

- 24.1 The terms of reference of committees is detailed in Section 5 of this constitution.

25. SPECIAL MEETING

25.1 The chairman of a committee may summon an additional meeting of that committee at any time. An additional meeting shall also be summoned on the requisition in writing of not less than a quarter of the members of the committee. The summons shall set out the business to be considered at the special meeting and no other business shall be transacted at that meeting.

Deleted: C

26. SUB-COMMITTEES

26.1 Every committee may appoint sub-committees for purposes to be specified by the committee.

26.2 The chairman and vice-chairman of the committee, Chairman of Council and Leader, shall be members of every sub-committee appointed by it unless they signify that they do not wish to serve.

Deleted: C

Deleted: V

Deleted: C

26.3 Except where ordered by the council in the case of a committee, or by the council or by the appropriate committee in the case of a sub-committee, the quorum of a committee or sub-committee shall be one-third of its members.

26.4 The Orders on rules of debate (except those parts relating to standing and to speaking more than once) and the Order on interests of members in contracts and other matters shall apply to all business of the council.

27. ADVISORY COMMITTEES AND WORKING GROUPS

27.1 The council may create advisory committees and working groups, whose name, and number of members and the bodies to be invited to nominate members shall be specified.

Deleted: C

27.2 The Clerk to the Council shall inform the members of each such committees of the terms of reference of the committee.

27.3 Such committees may make recommendations and give notice thereof to the council

Deleted: C

27.4 These committees may consist wholly of persons who are not members of the council.

Deleted: c

28. VOTING IN COMMITTEES

28.1 Members of committees and sub-committees entitled to vote, shall normally vote by show of hands, but the committee or sub-committee may choose a form of voting depending on the meeting arrangements if meetings are being held remotely (multi-location meetings).

28.2 Chairmen of committees and sub-committees shall in the case of an equality of votes have a second or casting vote.

29. PRESENCE OF NON-MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES AT COMMITTEE MEETINGS

- 29.1 A member who has proposed a motion, which has been referred to any committee of which he is not a member, may explain his motion to the committee but shall not vote.

Deleted: resolution

Deleted: resolution

30. DECLARATION OF INTEREST

- 30.1 If a member has a personal interest as defined by the Code of Conduct adopted by the council on 15 May, 2008 as amended, then he shall declare such interest as soon as it becomes apparent, disclosing the existence and nature of that interest as required.

Deleted: C

- 30.2 If a member who has declared a personal interest then considers the interest to be prejudicial, he must withdraw from the room or chamber during consideration of the item to which the interest relates.

- 30.3 The Clerk to the Council is required by law to compile and hold a register of members' interests declared at council and committee meetings. This register must be displayed on the council's website.

- 30.4 If a candidate for any appointment under the council is to his knowledge related to any member of or the holder of any office under the council, he and the person to whom he is related shall disclose the relationship in writing to the Clerk. A candidate who fails so to do shall be disqualified for such appointment, and, if appointed, may be dismissed without notice. The Clerk shall report to the council or to the appropriate committee any such disclosure. Where a relationship to a member is disclosed, Orders 30.1 and 30.2 shall apply as appropriate.

- 30.5 The Clerk shall make known the purpose of Order 30.4 to every candidate.

31. CANVASSING OF AND RECOMMENDATIONS BY MEMBERS

- 31.1 Canvassing of members of the council or of any committee, directly or indirectly, for any appointment under the council shall disqualify the candidate for such appointment. The Clerk shall make known the purport of this sub-paragraph of this Order to every candidate.

- 31.2 A member of the council or of any committee shall not solicit for any person any appointment under the council or recommend any person for such appointment or for promotion; but, nevertheless, any such member may give a written testimonial of a candidate's ability, experience or character for submission to the council with an application for appointment.

- 31.3 Orders 30 and 31 shall apply to tenders as if the person making the tender were a candidate for an appointment.

32. INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS

32.1 A member may for the purpose of his duty as such (but not otherwise), inspect any document in possession of the council or a committee, and if copies are available shall, on request, be supplied for the like purpose with a copy.

32.2 **All minutes kept by the council and by any committee shall be open for the inspection of any member of the council.**

33. UNAUTHORISED ACTIVITIES

33.1 No member of the council or of any committee or sub-committee shall in the name of or on behalf of the council:-

- a) Inspect any lands or premises which the council has a right or duty to inspect; or
- b) Issue orders, instructions or directions.
Unless authorised to do so by the council or the relevant committee or sub-committee.

34. ADMISSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS TO MEETINGS

34.1 The public and press shall be admitted to all meetings of the council including its committees and sub-committees, which may, however, temporarily exclude the public by means of the following resolution: -

“That in view of the [special] [confidential] nature of the business to be transacted, the following matter(s) be considered in private and the power of exclusion of the public under Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings Act 1960) be exercised”.

34.2 The Clerk shall afford to the press reasonable facilities for the taking of their report of any proceedings at which they are entitled to be present.

34.3 If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting, the chairman may, after warning, order that he be removed from the meeting and may adjourn the meeting for such period as is necessary to restore order.

Deleted: C

35. CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS

35.1 No member of the council or of any committee or sub-committee shall disclose to any person not a member of the council any business declared to be confidential by the council, the committee or the sub-committee as the case may be.

35.2 Any member in breach of the provisions of 35.1 above of this Order shall be referred to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales for breach of the Code of Conduct.

36. URGENT BUSINESS

36.1 The law makes no provision for dealing with urgent business on council agendas. If it is urgent only because it was not notified in time to appear on the agenda, it should be left until the next meeting. If it is genuinely urgent, that is, it was too late for the agenda

and it will be too late for action if left until the next ordinary meeting, an additional meeting should be called unless the reference of the urgent business can be referred to a committee or sub-committee provided the requirements set out in Standing Order 1.8 above are observed, or referred to the Clerk of the Council for action under the scheme of delegated powers. It is contrary to local government law for the Chairman of Council, Leader of Council or any other single member to take a decision binding the council.

36.2 The Clerk's scheme of delegated powers is summarised in Section 6 of this constitution.

37. COMPLAINTS

37.1 The council shall deal with complaints of maladministration allegedly committed by the council or by any officer or member in such manner as adopted by the council except for those complaints which should be properly directed to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.

38. VARIATION, REVOCATION AND SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDERS

38.1 Any or every part of the Standing Orders except those printed in **bold type** may be suspended by resolution in relation to any specific item of business.

38.2 A motion permanently to add, vary or revoke this Constitution or similarly a Standing Order shall when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the council.

Deleted: resolution

39. APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTIES

39.1 Members serving on any of the council's committees shall be given discretionary powers to appoint a deputy to attend in their stead, subject to the provisions made under the 'composition of committees' in Section 5 of this constitution.

40. STANDING ORDERS TO BE GIVEN TO MEMBERS

40.1 A copy of these Standing Orders shall be given to every member by the Clerk to the Council upon delivery to him of the member's declaration of acceptance of office and written undertaking to observe the Code of Conduct adopted by the council.

SECTION 3

STANDING ORDER 3

ROLE AND DUTIES OF CHAIRMAN OF COUNCIL

The word 'chairman' means the person actually presiding at a meeting and 'council' includes 'committees and sub-committees', where any function has been delegated.

The council's instructions are conveyed by resolutions and it is the purpose of the council's proceedings to reach, without unreasonable delay, an intelligible and lawful decision for the right reasons. The whole duty of a chairman is to ensure that this purpose is achieved and to this end he must:

1. Protect the council against outside interference.
2. Ensure that everything to be discussed is lawful.
3. Ensure that the council is invited to deal with clear issues.
4. Ensure that as far as possible information is complete.
5. Ensure that opinions expressed are relevant to the matter in hand.
6. Ensure that the business is transacted with reasonable speed.
7. Ensure as far as possible that proceedings are friendly and free from personalities.
8. Co-operate with the officers and councillors.
9. Deciding all matters of protocol, decorum, order, competency and relevancy.
10. Determining all matters of procedure for which no provision is made within Standing Orders, in reaching which determination he may be advised by the proper officer.
11. Deciding priority between two or more members wishing to speak but with deference at all times to be paid to the authority and position of the Leader of the Council. When the Leader indicates a wish to speak, the chairman will invite the incumbent to address the meeting before inviting other members to address the meeting.
12. Ensuring that a fair opportunity is given to all members to express their views on any item of business in accordance with the terms of Standing Orders.
13. Preserving order in the meeting.
14. Ordering the exclusion of any member of the public, in order to prevent or suppress disorderly conduct or other misbehaviour which impedes or is, in his opinion, impeding the business of the meeting.
15. In the event of disorder arising, adjourning the meeting to a time and date he will fix then or later having been advised by the proper officer if appropriate, and in leaving the Chair in such circumstances this will, without further procedure, have the effect of a formal adjournment of the meeting.

Deleted: interference;

Deleted: lawful;

Deleted: issues;

Deleted: complete;

Deleted: hand;

Deleted: speed;

Deleted: personalities;

Deleted: councillors;

Deleted: officer;

Deleted: meeting;

Deleted: Orders;

Deleted: meeting;

Deleted: meeting;

Deleted: meeting;

16. Signing the minutes of the previous meeting, adjusted in accordance with any amendment approved by the council. Such amendment relating to accuracy only.
17. To preside over questions relating to Standing Orders and in reaching any decisions he may be advised by the proper officer.
18. Ensuring the meeting observes Standing Orders with it being the duty of the proper officer or his authorised representative to call the attention of the chairman to any breach of Standing Orders.
19. The authority of the chairman is limited to matters of procedure and neither increases or decreases his right (in comparison with other members) to discuss the merits of a particular case or item of business. While the Chair gives his authority on matters of procedure, it confers no rights (other than the casting vote) on matters of policy which are not possessed by other members.

Deleted: only;

Deleted: officer;

Deleted: Orders;

SECTION 4

STANDING ORDER 7

SELECTION PROCESS AND ROLE OF THE LEADER OF COUNCIL

1. Each party group leader on the council is elected by his group i.e. by councillors belonging to his political party or recognised group. After each ordinary council election, the party or group with the most council seats becomes the party/group in control, and the leader of that party/group becomes the Leader of the Council and will normally serve in that role for the full term of office of local councillor (five years) until the next set of ordinary elections provided the controlling group continues to hold the most seats. The position of Leader of Council will be normally confirmed at the annual meeting of the council immediately following the council's ordinary set of elections.
2. If the outcome of the election is that there is no overall control, a process of negotiation will be used to determine which party leader will lead the council.
3. In some instances, a coalition will produce alternate Leaders; in others, one party (and therefore, Leader) will have overall control supported by other parties. If there is a very weak political party presence, the Leader will be agreed by other means as determined by the council.
4. The position of leader of a party group or political Leader of the Council is not regarded as employment in the legal sense, therefore, the election of Leader of Council is not subject to employment or equal opportunities law in the same way as a staff appointment would be.
5. The Leader of Council, ex-officio, shall be a voting member of every committee and subcommittee of the council.
6. The Leader of Council will be the spokesperson for the council on all matters. The Leader will be relatively visible to citizens and able to engage with them when appropriate.
7. The Leader of Council will partner with public officials and other politicians (both internal and external to the council) and will work effectively with other public agencies as well as the private, voluntary and community sectors for the greater good of the community.
8. The Leader will attend at meetings, external events and or civic engagements as the role so demands as and when it is necessary or applicable to promote council business and public relations generally within the wider community.
9. The Leader is responsible for conducting the Clerk's annual performance appraisal.

SECTION 5

STANDING ORDER 23

1. COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEES

1.1 Each member will be allocated two committees based on the following:-

Ward	Recreation and Welfare	Finance and General Purposes	Planning and Liaison	Policy and Resources
Bynea	2	1	1	2
Dafen	2	2	2	2
Felinfoel	1	1	1	1
Glyn	1	1	1	1
Hengoed	2	2	2	2
Pemberton	2	2	2	2
Swiss Valley	1	1	1	1
Total	11	10	10	11

Commented [MG2]: The composition of the Finance and General Purposes and the Planning and Liaison Committees will need to increase to 11 members after the local government elections in May 2027 to reflect the increase in council membership in the Bynea Ward.

- 1.2 The Chairman of Council and Leader shall sit on all the above committees; two as Ward Members and two by virtue of post.
- 1.3 Members who have served as Chairman of Council shall be appointed to the Civic and Ceremonial Committee. The committee will comprise up to nine Past Chairmen, together with the Leader of Council as an ex-officio member.
- 1.4 The Chairman Elect will also serve on the Civic and Ceremonial Committee when the nomination has been accepted by council. When the total number of members exceeds 9 past chairmen at the time of the Annual Meeting, the Past-Chairman with the longest serving record will stand down from the committee.
- 1.5 The Learning and Development Consultative Committee shall comprise a cross-section of 7 Members of both the Finance and General Purposes Committee and the Policy and Resources Committee; to include the Chairman of Council and Leader.

Commented [MG3]: The grants panel has been expunged.

Deleted: 1.6

Deleted: The Community Development Grants Panel shall comprise one member from each electoral Ward (7 members) together with the Chairman of Council and Leader. If a member from a Ward submits apologies and is therefore unable to attend the meeting, the member may appoint a substitute member from the Ward to attend in their stead

Deleted: 1

Deleted: 1.7.

Deleted: C

Deleted: V

Deleted: C

Deleted: C

1.6 Sub-Committees will comprise the chairman and vice-chairman of committee, Chairman of Council and Leader together with other nominated members.

2. CYCLE OF MEETINGS

2.1 Committee meetings will be held cyclically as follows:-

- (a) Recreation and Welfare Committee shall be held on the third Tuesday of each month; (excluding August).
- (b) Policy and Resources Committee shall be held on the third Wednesday of each month; (excluding August).
- (c) Finance and General Purposes Committee shall be held on the last Wednesday of each month; (excluding August).
- (d) Planning and Liaison Committee shall be held on a three-week cycle.
- (e) Civic and Ceremonial Committee shall be held normally during February, April and December.
- (f) Learning and Development Consultative Committee shall be held on the last Thursday of January, April, July and October.

Deleted: three week

Deleted: ;

Deleted: December;

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm

Deleted: October;

Deleted: (g)

Deleted: Community Development Grants Panel shall be held annually on the last Thursday of October unless otherwise determined.

STANDING ORDER 24

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The terms of reference of the committees are as follows:-

1. RECREATION AND WELFARE COMMITTEE

- 1.1 To formulate, develop and implement proposals concerning tourism, cultural, leisure, parks, open spaces and recreation.
- 1.2 To identify and undertake functions and responsibilities in relation to public rights of way, street furniture, footway lighting and structures.
- 1.3 To identify and undertake responsibilities in relation to community halls.
- 1.4 To identify and undertake functions and responsibilities in relation to children's play areas.
- 1.5 To formulate estimates of income and expenditure for capital and revenue costs and submit the proposals to the council.
- 1.6 To recommend capital schemes to the council.
- 1.7 To consider recommendations from sub-committees or working groups on recreational matters within their terms of reference.

2. POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE

- 2.1 To consider recommendations from other committees or working groups on the establishment or amendment to policies within their terms of reference and to recommend to the council any such proposal
 - be approved or not approved; or
 - be varied; orbe referred back to the committee by which the matter was submitted for further consideration by that committee.
- 2.2 To determine matters relating to the use of the council's resources whether of a revenue or capital nature.
- 2.3 To review constitutional issues and make recommendations to the council.
- 2.4 To deal with corporate or other issues not otherwise within the terms of reference of any other committees.
- 2.5 To consider correspondence from Parliamentary, Senedd Cymru, Welsh Government, local authorities and other bodies in respect of consultative and other documents.
- 2.6 To consider and make recommendations to the council upon electoral matters; review of local government areas and alterations in boundaries.

- 2.7 To receive and consider recommendations on members' services, council and committee procedures.
- 2.8 To monitor the overall effectiveness of the council's services.
- 2.9 To monitor and review the Strategic Plan and service plans of the council.
- 2.10 To develop partnerships with other authorities, agencies and organisations for the effective delivery of services and the provision of facilities consistent with the aims, objectives, policies and programmes of the council.
- 2.11 To determine, review, monitor and oversee the council's Welsh Language Policy.
- 2.12 To determine matters relating to manpower planning, organisation structures and staff establishments.
- 2.13 To exercise on behalf of the council its powers relating to:
- (a) Recruitment, rates of remuneration, termination of service, education, training, conditions of service, career development and all other similar matters relating to employees and members of the council.
 - (b) Organisational development reviews and surveys, efficiency reviews, work study, performance indicators, Investors in People.
 - (c) All matters concerning working conditions, employee services, staff welfare, agreements regarding salaries and wages, sickness and grievance procedures, disciplinary measures, appeals and disputes and consultation with employees and their representatives.
 - (d) The exercise of any discretion in respect of any employee under the Local Government Superannuation Acts and Pension Regulations.
 - (e) All matters relating to Health and Safety at Work, Risk Assessment and Safety policies.
 - (f) All other routine human resource matters within the general policies of the council.
 - (g) The management of government and other externally funded training schemes.
- 2.14 To determine the purchase of vehicles and machinery subject to the council's Financial Regulations.
- 2.15 To formulate estimates of income and expenditure for capital and revenue costs and submit the proposals to council.

3 FINANCE AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

- 3.1 To consider the financial aspects of particular matters, projects and joint schemes specifically referred to the committee, to monitor income and expenditure of other committee budgets.

- 3.2 Routine financial matters and in particular the authorisation of payments.
- 3.3 The management of all funds and investments and the supervision of the council's banking arrangements.
- 3.4 Any irregularity in financial transactions.
- 3.5 The collection of all monies due to the council.
- 3.6 To fix rents and charges.
- 3.7 To authorise the writing off of bad debts and other items in accordance with approved financial regulations.
- 3.8 To identify and take responsibility in relation to the administrative office, training units and depots.
- 3.9 To administer the council's loan management statement and to recommend policy changes to council.
- 3.10 To superintend the finances of the council in accordance with the law and the council's Standing Orders and Financial Regulations.
- 3.11 To effect necessary insurance cover on all buildings and property owned by the council and such other insurances relating to members and officers, and in respect of any other matters as may be necessary.
- 3.12 To ensure the adequate and effective system of internal audit of the council's, accounting operations.
- 3.13 To receive reports and correspondence from the council's appointed internal auditor, ~~whereas correspondence, reports and audit opinions received from external auditors in regard to the council's annual accounts shall be reported to the council for consideration.~~
- 3.14 To determine applications for financial assistance and financial contributions to outside bodies except as provided elsewhere within these terms of reference.
- 3.15 To determine the strategy and operational matters relating to information technology.
- 3.16 To formulate estimates of income and expenditure for capital and revenue costs and submit the proposals to council.
- 3.17 To authorise the formulation and submission of tender contracts prepared by or on behalf of the Training Department for training programmes.
- 3.18 To determine, monitor and review training opportunities and activities of the Training Department.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm

Deleted: and external auditors.

4. PLANNING AND LIAISON COMMITTEE

1. To consider and respond to the Local Development Plan Framework on matters relating to control and development.
2. To consider and respond to the Planning Authority on matters relating to statutory structure and local plans and planning applications.
3. To consider and respond to the relevant body in respect of highway matters.
4. To consider and respond to the relevant body in respect of listed buildings and ancient monuments.
5. To consider and respond to the relevant body in respect of conservation orders and environmental matters.
6. To consider and respond to the relevant body in respect of tree preservation.
7. To consider and respond to the relevant body in respect to street naming and matters of a like kind.

5. CIVIC AND CEREMONIAL COMMITTEE

1. To interview the Chairman Elect and Vice-Chairman Elect in accordance with the framework agreed.
2. To recommend to council the Chairman Elect and Vice-Chairman Elect.
3. To attend to all matters relating to civic roles, responsibilities and activities.
4. To determine arrangements for civic events.
5. To formulate estimates of income and expenditure for capital and revenue costs and submit the proposals to council.

6. LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

1. To meet the regulatory and legal responsibilities of the Training Department.
2. To oversee the strategic aims and mission statement of the Training Department.
3. To determine the values to be promoted by the Department.
4. To determine and review objectives.
5. The review and evaluation of strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats relating to the Department.

6. To determine **and manage** policies, strategic and operational plans, Self-Assessment report and Quality Development Plan.
7. To ensure that the Department's organisational structure and capability is appropriate for implementing the chosen strategies.
8. To **monitor and evaluate** the implementation of policies, strategies and business plans, including financial **matters**.

Deleted: delegate authority to management and monitoring and evaluating...

Commented [MG5]: The grants panel has been expunged.

Deleted: 7. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANTS PANEL¶

¶
1. To consider and assess applications received for funding in accordance with the criteria agreed for the Community Development Fund scheme.¶

¶
To allocate funding as deemed appropriate to applicants.¶

¶
To promote grants awarded by attending presentation events as and when required.¶

¶
To make recommendations on the revision of the scheme as and when required to the Policy and Resources Committee.

Deleted: ¶

SECTION 6

CLERK'S SCHEME OF DELEGATED POWERS

1. INTRODUCTION

This scheme of delegation is derived from the provisions contained in Sections 101 and 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.

Deleted: S

Deleted: D

The Clerk is authorised to make arrangements for the proper administration of the functions falling within his responsibility.

- 1.1 The Clerk may authorise officers to exercise on his behalf, functions delegated to him. Any decisions taken under this authority shall remain the responsibility of the Clerk and must be taken in the name of the Clerk who shall remain accountable and responsible for such decisions.

- 1.2 The scheme delegates powers and duties within various functional descriptions and includes powers and duties under all legislation present and future within those descriptions. Any reference to a specific statute includes any statutory extension or modification or re-enactment of such statute and any regulations, orders or bylaws made there under.

- 1.3 In exercising delegated powers the Clerk shall comply with:-

- (1) Any statutory provisions;
- (2) The council's Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
- (3) The council's policy framework and budget;
- (4) The Employee's Code of Conduct;
- (5) Agreed arrangements for recording decisions;
- (6) Taking legal or other appropriate professional advice when required;
- (7) The principles of Best Value by using the most efficient and effective means available;
- (8) The need to consult persons or representatives of persons who may be affected by the decision, including where appropriate the local ward member.

- 1.4 The scheme does not delegate any matter which:-

- (1) Is reserved by law or by these Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
- (2) Which may not by law be delegated to an officer.

- 1.5 The scheme places an obligation on the Clerk to keep the appropriate member(s) properly informed of decisions made under these delegations.

Where the Clerk makes a significant decision which is based upon a power delegated from the council, that decision must be retrospectively reported and recorded in the council minutes and made available on request to individual councillors and to the public, subject to any limitations on exempt or confidential information.

Deleted: C

Deleted: M

- 1.6 It is always open to the council or any committee of the council as appropriate to take decisions on any matter falling within the delegated power of the Clerk, provided that as far as committees are concerned the matter falls within their terms of reference.

- 1.7 Where expenditure is involved, such action shall be conditional upon financial provision being included within the approved budget of the council and Financial Procedure Rules being complied with.
- 1.8 The council will review from time to time as may be necessary the general operation of this scheme of delegation with any variation or amendment requiring the approval of the council.
- 1.9 In exercising these delegated powers the Clerk shall have broad discretion subject to complying with all relevant legislation, the council's Procedure Rules and Financial Procedure Rules and overall council policy, to use the most efficient and effective means available, including the deployment of staffing and other resources within his control and the procurement of other resources necessary, whether within or outside the council.
- 1.10 The Clerk shall act so as to achieve the policies and objectives of the service area, always having regard to the overall corporate interests of the council.
- 1.11 In exercising delegated powers, the Clerk shall consult other officers as appropriate and shall have regard to any advice given.
- 1.12 Where a significant decision is to be made, and depending on the functional area of activity, it shall always be required that the Clerk consult the Leader of Council and in addition one or more of the following, namely the Chairman of Council, a Committee, or its Chairman or Vice-Chairman before exercising delegated powers as the circumstances so determine.

2. GENERAL POWERS

- 2.1 Determination of all matters which are not required to be considered by the council or which have not been referred to a committee or a sub-committee for determination.
- 2.2 Determination of any urgent matter in the purview of the council or any committee where it is impractical to convene a meeting of that body to consider the matter.
- 2.3 To incur expenditure or take any other step in the day to day operation of council services in accordance with approved budgets of any service area.
- 2.4 To take action on behalf of the council in consultation with the Leader of Council, Chairman of Council and/or Committee Chairman in any urgent matter which does not allow for prior authorisation to be obtained where:-
- (1) There is a serious risk of significant cost to the council of loss of income resulting from lack of immediate action.
 - (2) The council's property or staff or persons in its care or for whom it has a responsibility would otherwise be placed at serious risk of suffering harm/damage.
 - (3) An emergency or disaster involving destruction or danger to life or property occurs or is imminent or there is reasonable grounds for apprehending such an emergency or disaster and such action is calculated to avert, alleviate or eradicate the effects or potential effects of the event.

Deleted: action;

3. ADMINISTRATION

- 3.1 To make a major contribution to formulation, development, revision, monitoring and review of the council's objectives and its strategies for achieving them.
- 3.2 To support initiatives of the council through research, analysis and to advise the council accordingly.
- 3.3 To make proposals for revision and amendments to council policies and procedures where he feels these may be beneficial to the area, to the administration of the council and/or to the correct conduct of council business.
- 3.4 To be responsible for the safe, secure, convenient and accessible custody of all deeds, plans, records, correspondence and other documents concerning the council.
- 3.5 To receive and process correspondence and documents on behalf of the council and to deal expeditiously therewith bringing such items to the attention of the council or appropriate committee or Chairman as appropriate. To respond on behalf of the council and as directed to all correspondence. The Clerk shall consult the Leader of Council and the Chairman of Council or the appropriate Committee Chairman when correspondence is received outside the meeting cycle to agree appropriate action, which if left until the next ordinary cycle of meetings would not be properly considered or determined.
- 3.6 To supervise members of staff and to undertake all necessary activities in connection with the management of salaries, conditions of employment and work of other staff. To develop the skills of all employees and to identify training needs and attendance at appropriate training courses. To develop appropriate personnel policies and procedures.
- 3.7 Advise the council on the development of the offices of Chairman and Vice Chairman of Council and to advise and assist the incumbents in the performance of their duties.
- 3.8 To develop the local profile of the council and to establish and maintain constructive relationships with other local authorities, local groups, the press and relevant organisations who share the interests of the council. Furthermore, to represent the council as required at public meetings and other events and to issue statements and press releases concerning the activities or decisions of the council.
- 3.9 To undertake statutory and non statutory publicity and consultations.

4. HEALTH AND SAFETY AT WORK

- 4.1 To be responsible for all matters in relation to Health and Safety at work as defined in the council's Health and Safety Policy and Arrangements for Implementation.

5. PROPER OFFICER FUNCTIONS

- 5.1 The Clerk to the Council is the Proper Officer of the council and, therefore, is under a statutory duty to carry out all the functions and, in particular, to serve or issue all the notifications required by law of a local authority's Proper Officer.

5.2 Proper Officer functions under the Local Government Act 1972 are delegated as follows:-

- (1) To sign summonses to attend council, committee and sub-committee meetings.
- (2) To exclude reports or parts of reports from the right of public inspection.
- (3) To receive and retain deposited documents.
- (4) To certify documents.
- (5) To sign any documents on behalf of the council relating to land.
- (6) To attest the Common Seal of the Council as the officer authorised under the council's Standing Orders.
- (7) To sign any contractual documents on behalf of the council relating to any matter subject (as appropriate) to advice about the proposed signing of such document in advance of such signing.
- (8) To receive Declarations of Acceptance of Office by Llanelli Rural Councillors and Co-opted members.

Deleted: meetings;

Deleted: inspection;

Deleted: documents;

Deleted: documents;

Deleted: land;

Deleted: Orders;

Deleted: signing;

5.3 The council has made arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and has appointed the Deputy Clerk as its Responsible Financial Officer (RFO). The RFO has responsibility for the administration of those affairs in accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and more specifically as prescribed in the council's financial regulations.

Commented [MG7]: The role of Deputy Clerk will be transferred to the current Finance Manager from January 2026.

Deleted: Finance Manager

6. LEGAL AGREEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

6.1 To sign or attest the seal of the council in respect of any contract or legal agreement.

7. EXTERNAL LEGAL ADVICE

7.1 To procure external legal advice and support in relation to any proceedings or matter involving the council or partnership in which the council has an interest where that is considered to be appropriate.

8. PLANNING MATTERS

8.1 To determine planning applications in the following instances:

8.1.1 Where a limited number of planning applications are received prior to the cut off point for despatch of the Planning and Liaison Committee agenda.

8.1.2 Delegated power is granted on the understanding that at all times, the Chairman of Committee and the local ward members serving on the Planning and Liaison Committee (to which the planning applications relate) are consulted prior to determination of the application.

8.1.3 As a general rule of thumb, controversial or high profile planning applications promoting large scale or major development proposals are excluded from the scheme of delegation. For the avoidance of doubt large scale or major developments exclude standard planning applications covering proposals such as house extensions, porches, conservatories, garages and erection of signs.

- 8.1.4 The Clerk is authorised to exercise discretion in determining when to use delegated powers based on the number and type of planning applications received at any given time, in order to further determine whether a committee meeting ought to be convened, provided always that there are no other items of correspondence or matters requiring urgent committee approval or attention and which form part of the committee agenda.
- 8.1.5 In instances where planning applications have been determined by the Clerk an information report is to be prepared and presented to the next ordinary committee meeting, providing details of the applications in order for there to be a formal record in the council minutes.
- 8.2 To also determine planning applications in the following instances:
- 8.2.1 All telecommunication planning applications given the strict 21 day consultation deadline imposed by the Planning Authority, when responding to such applications.
- 8.2.2 The determination of planning correspondence associated with the submission of planning application amendments, where such applications fall outside the normal cycle of committee meetings.
- 8.2.3 Furthermore, to retrospectively report such applications or matters referred to in 8.2.1 and 8.2.2, to committee as part of the information reporting procedure set out in 8.1.5.

SECTION 7

**THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT) (WALES) ORDER
2008 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (MODEL CODE OF
CONDUCT) (WALES) (AMENDMENT) ORDER 2016**

THE MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT – AN OVERVIEW

GENERAL

1. The code of conduct applies to all elected members and co-opted members with voting rights of the following 'relevant authorities': county/county borough councils, community and town councils, fire and rescue authorities and national park authorities in Wales.
2. Members must observe the code whenever they:
 - conduct the business, or are present at a meeting, of their authority.
 - act, claim to act, or give the impression they are acting in the role of a member.
 - act, claim to act, or give the impression they are acting as a representative of their authority.
3. The following conduct is also covered by the code when a member is acting in other than an official capacity (i.e. conduct in private life):
 - conduct that might be regarded as bringing the office of member of their authority into disrepute.
 - using or attempting to use a member's position improperly to secure for any person an advantage or to create or avoid a disadvantage.
 - improper use of the authority's resources.
4. Members who are elected, appointed or nominated by their authority to serve on another relevant authority or other bodies are subject to the code of conduct for that other body. Where such a body does not have a code, members must comply with their authority's code except where it conflicts with any lawful obligations to which that body may be subject.
5. Members must:
 - carry out their duties and responsibilities with due regard to the principle of equality of opportunity for all people.
 - show respect and consideration for others.
 - report conduct by another member or anyone who works for, or on behalf of, their authority which they reasonably believe involves criminal behaviour (this does not include offences capable of punishment by way of a fixed penalty).
 - report conduct by another member that they reasonably believe breaches the code of conduct.
 - comply with any request of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales or the authority's monitoring officer in connection with an investigation conducted under their statutory powers.
 - reach decisions on the basis of the merits of the circumstances involved and in the public interest, having regard to the advice of their authority's officers.

Deleted: authority;

Deleted: member;

Deleted: disrepute;

Deleted: disadvantage;

Deleted: people;

Deleted: others;

Deleted:);

Deleted: conduct;

Deleted: powers;

Deleted: officers;

- give reasons for decisions in accordance with statutory requirements and any reasonable requirements imposed by their authority.
- observe the law and their authority's rules when claiming expenses and allowances.
- avoid gifts and hospitality etc. that might place, or appear to place, a member under an improper obligation.

Deleted: authority;

Deleted: allowances;

6. Members must not:

- conduct themselves in a manner which could be regarded as bringing the office of member or their authority into disrepute.
- bully or harass any person.
- compromise or do anything likely to compromise the impartiality of those who work for their authority.
- disclose confidential information or information that should be regarded as being of a confidential nature, without the consent of a person authorised to give it, unless required by law to do so.
- prevent any person from gaining access to information to which they are entitled by law.
- make vexatious, malicious or frivolous complaints against other members or anyone working for, or on behalf of, their authority.
- use, or authorise others to use, their authority's resources improperly.

Deleted: disrepute;

Deleted: person;

Deleted: authority;

Deleted: so;

Deleted: law;

Deleted: authority;

PERSONAL INTERESTS

7. The code sets out a number of categories of personal interest including:

- employment or business.
- election and other expenses.
- securities.
- contracts.
- land.
- membership of other bodies where elected, appointed or nominated by the member's authority.
- membership or positions of general control or management of other bodies, companies, charitable bodies, lobby organisations, trade and professional associations.
- membership or positions of general control or management of private clubs, societies and associations operating within the authority's area.

Deleted: business;

Deleted: expenses;

Deleted: securities;

Deleted: contracts;

Deleted: land;

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ;

8. Members must register the above interests by giving written notification to the authority's monitoring officer within 28 days of:

- their authority's code of conduct being adopted or the model code being applied to their authority; or
- the member's election or appointment to office (if that is later).

Any changes to personal interests must be registered within 28 days of the member becoming aware of the change.

9. Members of community councils are not required to register personal interests in advance as above. Members of such councils must disclose the existence and nature of personal interests when they become apparent, as described below.
10. Subject to the agreement of their authority's monitoring officer, members do not need to include 'sensitive information' when registering a personal interest. 'Sensitive information' is information whose availability for inspection by the public creates, or is likely to create, a serious risk that the member or a person with whom a member lives may be subjected to violence or intimidation.

DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL INTERESTS AT MEETINGS ETC

11. Members must in all matters consider whether they have a personal interest that should be disclosed.
12. In addition to the categories of interest described above (paragraph 7), members must regard themselves as having an interest in any business of their authority if:
 - the public might reasonably perceive a conflict between the member's role in taking a decision on behalf of their authority as a whole and the member's constituency role.
 - a decision upon it might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or pecuniary interests of the member, a person with whom the member has a close personal association, employment and business interests etc. of such persons, or other bodies of which such persons hold a position of general control or management, to a greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers and rate payers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision (or of the authority's area for those authorities without divisions or wards).
13. Where a member has a personal interest in any business of their authority they must:
 - when attending a meeting – disclose orally the existence and nature of that interest before or at the commencement of consideration of that business, or when the interest becomes apparent. Where such a disclosure is made for the first time, the member must confirm the disclosure in writing either before or immediately after the close of the meeting.
 - when making written representations to a member or officer – include details of the interest in that written communication.
 - when making oral representations to a member or officer – disclose orally the interest at the commencement of such representations or when the interest becomes apparent. Such representations and interests must be confirmed in writing within 14 days.
14. Where a member has the agreement of the monitoring officer that information relating to a personal interest is 'sensitive information', the member is required to disclose the existence of the interest and that the monitoring officer has agreed that the nature of the interest is sensitive and does not need to be disclosed.

Deleted: role;

Deleted: meeting;

Deleted: communication;

PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS

15. A member with a personal interest in any business of the authority also has a prejudicial interest in that business if *'the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest'*.
16. A member also has a prejudicial interest in any business before an overview or scrutiny committee of their authority where:
- the business relates to a decision or action of the executive, board or another of their authority's committees; and
 - that member was a member of the executive, board or committee and was present when the decision or action was taken.
17. A member is exempt from having a prejudicial interest where the business relates to:
- another relevant authority of which they are a member.
 - another public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature in which the member holds a position of general control or management.
 - a body to which the member is elected, appointed or nominated by their authority.
 - the member's role as a school governor where the member is not appointed or nominated by their authority, unless the business relates particularly to the school of which the member is a governor.
 - the member's role as a member of a local health board where the member is not appointed or nominated by their authority.

The above exemptions do not apply where the business of the authority relates to the determination of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration relating to the above-mentioned authorities or bodies.

18. A member is also exempt from having a prejudicial interest where the business relates to:
- housing functions of the authority where the member holds a tenancy or lease and the member does not have rent arrears of more than 2 months (provided that the functions do not relate particularly to that tenancy or lease).
 - school meals, transport and travelling expenses where the member is a guardian, parent, grandparent or has parental responsibility under the Children Act 1989 of a child in full time education, unless the business relates particularly to the school which that child attends.
 - statutory sick pay where the member is in receipt of, or are entitled to, such pay from their authority.
 - various allowances, pensions or payments to members under the Local Government Act 1972, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000.
19. Community councillors are also exempt from having a prejudicial interest where the business relates to a grant, loan or other financial assistance made by their community council to community or voluntary organisations up to a maximum of £500.

Deleted: member;

Deleted: management;

Deleted: authority;

Deleted: governor;

Deleted:);

Deleted: attends;

Deleted: authority;

PARTICIPATION IN THE BUSINESS OF THE AUTHORITY

20. A member with a prejudicial interest in any business of their authority must not, unless they have obtained a dispensation from their authority's standards committee, participate in that business (but see following paragraphs). Such a member must:
- withdraw from the room, chamber or place where a meeting considering the business is being held.
 - not exercise executive or board functions in relation to that business.
 - not seek to influence a decision about that business.
 - not make written or oral representations in relation to that business.
21. A member with a prejudicial interest may attend a meeting for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence, provided the public are also allowed to attend for the same purpose. The member must withdraw from the meeting place immediately after the period for making representations etc. has ended and in any event before further consideration of the business begins.
22. A member with a prejudicial interest is not prevented by the code from attending and participating in a meeting if the member:
- is required to attend an overview or scrutiny committee meeting.
 - has a dispensation from the standards committee. The member must state that they are relying on the dispensation and confirm the dispensation in writing before or immediately after the close of the meeting.

Deleted: held;

Deleted: business;

Deleted: business;

Deleted: meeting;

REGISTRATION OF GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY

23. A member must, within 28 days, provide written notification to the monitoring officer of the receipt and nature of any gift, hospitality, material benefit or advantage above a value set by their authority.

REFERENCE SOURCE

Partnership and Ethics team, Welsh Government (formerly Welsh Assembly Government) – April 2008

POST SCRIPT NOTE

In regard to paragraph 23 above, members of community and town councils must now provide this information to the Clerk to the Council instead of the monitoring officer.

SECTION 8

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR EMPLOYEES

INTRODUCTION

The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all employees who work for the council. This code sets out the standards expected from employees. It should be read, where appropriate, in conjunction with the council's employment policies, other relevant policies and procedures, conditions of service, standing orders, financial regulations and statutory requirements.

Some of the issues covered will affect senior managerial employees more so than other employees but many aspects of the Code are applicable to all the council's employees.

The golden rule to remember is that you should never do anything as an employee of the council which you could not justify publicly. Your conduct will affect the reputation of the council. It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety. You should at all times avoid any occasion for suspicion and any appearance of improper conduct.

Please read the Code carefully. It is your responsibility to make sure that what you do complies with the standards set down. If in doubt seek advice from your Line Manager.

1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all council employees. Your role is to serve the council by providing advice, implementing policies and delivering services to the local community. In performing your duties you must act with integrity, honesty, impartiality and objectivity.

2 ACCOUNTABILITY

All employees work and serve the whole of the Authority. You are accountable to, and owe a duty to the council. You must act in accordance with the principles set out in this Code, recognising the duty of all public sector employees to discharge public functions reasonably and according to the law.

3 POLITICAL NEUTRALITY

Because employees serve the Authority as a whole, you must serve all councillors equally and not just those of the controlling group. You must ensure that the individual rights of all councillors are respected and that you do not compromise your political neutrality.

Employees must follow every lawful expressed policy of the council and must not allow personal or political opinions to interfere with work.

4 RELATIONSHIPS

Employees are responsible to the council through its senior managers. Mutual respect between employees and councillors is essential to good local government; and working relationships should be kept on a professional basis. Close personal familiarity between employees and individual councillors, especially if an employee's role is to give advice

to councillors, can damage the relationship and prove embarrassing to other employees and councillors. It should therefore be avoided.

Employees should always remember their responsibilities to the community they serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all groups and individuals within that community. It is important that you deal with the public, members and other employees sympathetically, efficiently and without bias.

Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit and in accordance with the council's procedures and no special favour should be shown to businesses run by, for example, friends, partners or relatives.

Any employee who places orders, awards contracts or supervises contractors and has previously had or currently has a relationship in a private or domestic capacity with a contractor that you deal with in the course of duty, should declare that relationship to their manager.

5 EQUALITY

All members of the local community, customers and other employees have a right to be treated with fairness and equity irrespective of race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, disability, religion, political persuasion, marital status, sex, sexual orientation or age. All employees should ensure that the council's equal opportunity policies are complied with in addition to the requirements of the law.

6 STEWARDSHIP

Employees must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in a responsible and lawful manner and in accordance with financial regulations. You must not utilise property, vehicles or other facilities of the council for personal use unless authorised to do so.

7 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

All intellectual property rights (that is, copyright, design rights and the right to patent inventions) relating to anything created or invented by an employee in the course of your duties normally belongs automatically to the council. Employees are not entitled to use, sell or otherwise exploit the rights to any such thing without written permission from the council.

8 CORRUPTION

It is a serious criminal offence for employees corruptly to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing, or not doing, anything or showing favour, or disfavour, to any person in their official capacity.

9 PERSONAL INTERESTS

Whilst your private life is your own concern, you must not allow your private interests to conflict with your public duty. You must not misuse your official position or information acquired in the course of your employment to further your private interests, or the interest of others. In particular, you must comply with:

- the council's rules and declare to your Line Manager and ~~the Clerk to the Council~~ any financial and non-financial interests; and
- the council's rules and procedures for declaring hospitality or gifts offered to or received by you, from any person or organisation doing or seeking to do business, or otherwise benefiting or seeking to benefit from a relationship with the council. You must not accept benefits from a third party unless authorised to do so.

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

The issue of hospitality and gifts is dealt with in more detail below.

10 HOSPITALITY AND GIFTS

Employees should treat with caution any offer of hospitality. Employees must consider whether the offer of hospitality could put at risk public confidence in the council. In considering whether an offer of hospitality should be accepted, you should bear in mind:

- the possible motive behind the ~~hospitality~~.
- the scale of the ~~hospitality~~.
- the likely perception of others if the hospitality is accepted.

Deleted: hospitality;

Deleted: hospitality;

All offers of hospitality should be disclosed to an appropriate manager and recorded in the register held by the ~~Clerk to the Council~~. When hospitality has to be declined those making the offer should be courteously but firmly informed of the procedures and standards operating within the council.

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

Employees should not accept significant personal gifts from contractors and outside suppliers. Insignificant items of token value such as pens, diaries, etc. may be accepted but, if there is any doubt as to whether an item is classed as insignificant, or if acceptance of the gift could be perceived to jeopardise the integrity of any subsequent decision by the council, then the gift should be recorded in the register provided.

When receiving authorised hospitality, employees should be particularly sensitive as to its timing in relation to decisions which the council may be taking affecting those providing the hospitality.

11 SPONSORSHIP – GIVING AND RECEIVING

Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is seeking to sponsor a council activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or voluntarily, the same conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or hospitality apply. Particular care must be taken when dealing with current or potential contractors or developers.

Where the council wishes to sponsor an event or service neither an employee nor any partner, spouse or relative must benefit from such sponsorship in a direct way without there being full disclosure to your Line Manager of any such interest. Similarly where the council through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, gives support in the community, employees should ensure that impartial advice is given and that there is no conflict of interest involved.

12 SEPARATION OF ROLES DURING TENDERING

Employees involved in the tendering process must act with the utmost of integrity. Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for contracts should not disclose that information to any unauthorised party or organisation.

Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant managerial capacity.

13 WHISTLE BLOWING

In the event that an employee becomes aware of activities which that employee believes to be illegal, improper, unethical or otherwise inconsistent with the Code, the employee should report the matter, acting in accordance with the employee's rights under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 and in accordance with the council's confidential reporting procedure.

14 TREATMENT OF INFORMATION

Openness in the dissemination of information and decision making should be the norm for the Authority. However, certain information may be confidential or sensitive and therefore not appropriate for a wide audience. Where confidentiality is necessary to protect the privacy or other rights of individuals or bodies, information should not be released to anyone other than a councillor, relevant member of staff or other person who is entitled to receive it, or needs to have access to it for the proper discharge of their functions. Employees shall not disclose confidential information, nor should they use any information obtained in the course of their employment for personal gain or benefit or pass it on to others who you believe might use it in such a way.

Nothing in this Code can be taken as overriding existing statutory or common law obligations to keep certain information confidential, or to divulge certain information.

15 APPOINTMENTS AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT MATTERS

Employees involved in the recruitment and appointment of staff must ensure that these are made on the basis of merit. It is unlawful for an employee to make an appointment which is based on anything other than the ability of the candidate to undertake the duties of the post. In order to avoid any possible accusation of bias, employees should not be involved in any appointment, where they are related to an applicant, or with whom they have a close personal relationship outside work.

Similarly, employees should not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, promotion or pay and conditions for any other employee who is a relative, partner, etc. or with whom they have a close personal relationship outside work.

Employees of all grades must not undertake outside work, whether paid or unpaid, if it causes a conflict of interest with their official duties, particularly if it makes use of confidential material to which they have access by virtue of their position, or if it in any way weakens public confidence in the conduct of the council's business.

No paid or unpaid outside work of any sort should be undertaken by employees during working hours. Council premises, facilities and resources must not be used for paid or unpaid outside work.

16 INVESTIGATIONS BY THE MONITORING OFFICER

Where a monitoring officer is undertaking an investigation in accordance with regulations made under Section 73(1) of the Local Government Act 2000, you must comply with any requirement made by the monitoring officer in connection with such an investigation.

17 BREACHES OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT

Any employee who breaches the Code, may face disciplinary action under the council's own disciplinary procedures for matters concerning improper conduct.

SECTION 9

MEMBER/OFFICER PROTOCOL

1. INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 The purpose of this protocol is to guide members and officers of the council in their relations with one another in such a way as to ensure the smooth running of the council and to satisfy the ethical standards required.
- 1.2 Given the variety and complexity of member/officer relationships, this protocol cannot be prescriptive or cover all eventualities. However, it does aim to be instructive and offer guidance on some common issues and provide points of principle that can be applied to other issues that might arise, as well as offering clarification on respective roles and responsibilities.
- 1.3 This protocol is a written statement of current practice and convention. It seeks to promote greater clarity and certainty. Adhering to the protocol should ensure that members receive objective and impartial advice and that officers are protected from accusations of bias and any undue or overbearing influence from members.
- 1.4 This protocol builds upon the 'Memorandum of Agreement' issued by the Chief Executive of Carmarthenshire County Council dated 1 February, 2011. This stemmed from a meeting held by the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer with the Rural Council's group leaders on 25 January, 2011, where agreement was reached on a number of principles regarding the actions or conduct of members and officers. The 'Memorandum of Agreement' was subsequently issued to all members of council.
- 1.5 This protocol ~~reflects~~ the principles underlying the respective Codes of Conduct which applies to members and officers. The shared objective of these codes is to enhance and maintain the integrity of local government and the codes, therefore, demand very high standards of personal conduct.
- 1.6 This protocol is a local extension of the 'Memorandum of Agreement' and the Members' Code of Conduct and Employees' Code of Conduct. Consequently, a breach of the provisions of this protocol may also constitute a breach of the 'Memorandum of Agreement' and the respective codes. Accordingly, this protocol should be read in conjunction with the above said documents and any guidance issued to the council by the Chief Executive/Monitoring Officer at Carmarthenshire County Council.
- 1.7 For the avoidance of doubt 'member' refers to any councillor of Llanelli Rural Council and 'officer' refers to any employee of the council. However, the principles of this protocol also apply to members' dealings with other people not directly employed by the council but who are in an employment based relationship with the council.

Deleted: also seeks to reflect

2. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

- 2.1 Whilst both members and officers are public servants and they are indispensable to one another their responsibilities are distinct. Members are responsible to the electorate and serve so long as their term of office lasts. Members are responsible for setting policy. Officers are responsible to the council. Their job is to give advice and support to members and the council and to carry out the council's work under the direction and control of the council.

- 2.2 At the heart of this protocol is the importance of mutual respect. Member/officer relationships are to be conducted in a positive and constructive way. It is important that any dealings between members and officers should observe standards of courtesy and that neither party should seek to take unfair advantage of their position or seek to exert undue and overbearing influence on the other party.
- 2.3 Members must respect the impartiality and integrity of all council officers. Similarly, all officers must respect the role of members as elected representatives.
- 2.4 Inappropriate relationships can be inferred from language/style. To protect both members and officers, officers should address members at all formal meetings through the Chair and or as Councillor X save where circumstances clearly indicate that a level of informality is appropriate. Similarly, when addressing officers at formal meetings of the council, members should address officers by the post title.

3. ROLE OF MEMBERS

3.1 Members have four main roles:

- determining the policy of the council and giving it political leadership;
- monitoring and reviewing the performance of the council in implementing policy and delivering services (corporate governance);
- representing the council externally; and
- acting as advocates on behalf of their constituents and the wider community.

3.2 It is not the role of members to involve themselves in the day to day management of council services nor is the council permitted to delegate decision-making to a member or group of members.

3.3 A member will usually belong to a particular group or groupings represented on the council and will support the policies of the group to which they belong and may express political values.

3.4 Members may be appointed to outside bodies and the role can vary from representing the views of the council to acting according to individual judgement.

3.5 Members collectively will:

- determine vision and values and ensure staff commitment.
- ensure standards are properly established and monitored.
- link services and corporate objectives.
- enable local people to resolve problems and issues faced by the community.
- ensure community needs are fed into strategy formulation and service provision; and
- develop and support community leadership.

3.6 Certain members will be selected to serve in the capacity of Leader of Council; Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Council and/or its committees/sub-committees and working groups.

Deleted: commitment;

Deleted: monitored;

Deleted: objectives;

Deleted: community;

Leader of Council

- 3.7 The position of Leader of Council will normally be confirmed at the Annual Meeting of the Council immediately following the council's ordinary set of elections. Further information about the selection process and the Leader's role is set out in Section 4 of this constitution.

Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Council

- 3.8 The positions of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Council are confirmed at the Annual Meeting following a selection process based on qualifying length of service with the council and a selection framework adopted by the council. The role and duties of the Chairman of Council are set out in Section 3 of this constitution.
- 3.9 The Chairman of Council also serves in a civic capacity representing the council at various public engagements and local events. The position is non political and this must be reflected when invitations to functions are accepted.
- 3.10 It is reasonable for the Chairman to be supportive of local business, but the Office should not be used for commercial promotions. The Chairman should not use the position of Office, nor council officers to by-pass recognised systems of working. Similarly, the Chairman should not use the position of Office to exert undue or overbearing influence on council officers.
- 3.11 The authority of the Chairman is limited to matters of procedure and neither increases or decreases the Chairman's right (in comparison to other members) to discuss the merits of a particular case or item of business. While the Chair gives the Chairman authority on matters of procedure it confers no rights (other than a casting vote at meetings) on matters of policy which are not possessed by other members.

Committee Chairman and Vice Chairman

- 3.12 Such appointments to the council's committees, sub-committees and working groups will normally be confirmed at the council's Annual Meeting once membership of the committees/sub-committees and working groups have been determined by the controlling political group.

Deleted: immediately following

4. THE ROLE OF OFFICERS

- 4.1 Officers of the council have in broad terms, the following main roles:

- initiating policy proposals.
- implementing agreed policy, managing and providing the services and being accountable for the efficiency and effectiveness of the services provided.
- providing professional advice and support to the council, its various bodies and individual members; and
- ensuring the council always acts in a lawful manner.

Deleted: proposals;

Deleted: provided;

- 4.2 Officers will seek appropriate guidance on implementation of council policies if they are unclear about any aspect of those policies.

- 4.3 When giving professional advice to members, officers will recognise the different needs of members especially when members are acting in their capacity as local ward members. Officers are under a duty to help all members and all parts of the council equally and must take all relevant matters into account when formulating such advice.
- 4.4 Officers must not set policy other than for the smooth running of office procedures and processes and as may have been delegated through council standing orders and the Clerk's scheme of delegated powers.
- 4.5 Whilst members may be consulted as part of the process of drawing up proposals for consideration in the agenda of a forthcoming meeting, it must be recognised that the Clerk is under a professional duty to provide and to authorise and or sign/authenticate the agenda.

5. MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONS

5.1 Members can expect officers to:

- maintain confidentiality.
- perform their duties effectively, efficiently and with political neutrality.
- behave in a professional and courteous manner.
- be helpful to members and respect their role.
- avoid personal close familiarity with members and not use their relationship with members to advance their personal interests or to influence decisions improperly.
- report to their line manager any time that a member asks or pressurises the officer to deal with a matter outside of council procedure or policy or if it appears generally unreasonable.
- demonstrate an understanding of and support for respective roles, workload and pressure; and
- comply with the Employees' Code of Conduct.

Deleted: confidentiality;

Deleted: neutrality;

Deleted: manner;

Deleted: role;

Deleted: improperly;

Deleted: unreasonable;

5.2 Officers will expect members to:

- recognise the authority and statutory roles of the Clerk, as proper officer to the council and the Responsible Financial Officer and of the significance attached to their advice.
- provide political leadership and direction.
- treat officers with respect, dignity and courtesy.
- have an understanding of and support for respective roles, workload and pressures.
- not to subject officers to any form of bullying or harassment or undue influence or overbearing pressure.
- not use their position or relationship with officers to advance their personal interests or those of others or to influence decisions improperly; and
- comply with the Members' Code of Conduct.

Deleted: advice;

Deleted: direction;

Deleted: courtesy;

Deleted: pressures;

Deleted: pressure;

5.3 Officers are responsible for the day to day managerial and operational decisions within the council and will provide support to all members in their various roles.

5.4 Members must not obstruct the work of officers by unnecessarily taking up their time or in any way acting to impede their ability to proceed with their professional duties.

Similarly, officers must equally respect the role of members and will only request additional supporting work from members where necessary or beneficial to the council.

- 5.5 Neither members nor officers should seek to take unfair advantage of their positions in their dealings with each other. Members should be aware that officers, especially junior officers, may sometimes be overawed and feel at a disadvantage. Such feelings are intensified given that members make decisions that directly affect officers.
- 5.6 Members should not apply pressure on officers to do anything that they are unwilling to do or are not empowered to do. Similarly, officers must not seek to use influence on an individual member to make a decision in their personal favour, as opposed to in the interests of the council.
- 5.7 Close personal familiarity between individual members and officers can damage the principle of mutual respect. It could also, unintentionally, lead to the passing of confidential information which should not properly be passed between them, such as personal information and details. Such familiarity could also cause embarrassment to the members and/or other officers and could give rise to suspicion of favouritism. It should therefore be avoided.
- 5.8 Any close personal or family relationship between members and officers should be disclosed to the Clerk who will then decide how far this needs to be disclosed to others. Officers must also declare any such relationship with a member which might be seen as influencing their work.
- 5.9 Members and officers must conduct themselves in a way that is acceptable within a professional environment. They must have awareness of the effect of their behaviour on others and only make reasonable and manageable demands. They must start from the assumption that everyone is working to the best of their ability, considering their current stage of personal and professional development and be open to constructive criticism.
- 5.10 It is the responsibility of officers to express their professional views and to make recommendations (where appropriate) when tendering support and advice to members and when preparing and presenting professional reports. Members should not seek to pressure the officer to make a recommendation contrary to the officer's professional view because of their wish to express a contrary view.
- 5.11 The Clerk has certain statutory roles and obligations and members must understand these roles and obligations must be fulfilled and therefore must not obstruct the Clerk in the discharge of the individual's responsibilities and must not victimise, bully or harass the individual for discharging those responsibilities.
- 5.12 The following key principles reflect the way in which officers generally relate to members:
 - all officers are employed by and are accountable to the council;
 - support from officers is needed for all of the council's functions;
 - day to day managerial and operational decisions should remain the responsibility of the Clerk and other officers; and

- all officers will be provided with training and development to help them support the various member roles effectively.

- 5.13 It must be remembered that officers within the council are accountable to their line manager and ultimately the Clerk and that whilst officers should always seek to assist a member, they must not, in so doing, go beyond the bounds of whatever authority they have been given by their line manager or the Clerk.
- 5.14 Members must not insist that any officer take any action, or not take action that the officer considers unlawful or illegal, is in direct contradiction of any code or guidance, contrary to the council's budget or policy framework or which would be likely to amount to maladministration.
- 5.15 Regular contact between members and senior officers is necessary to ensure the efficient working of the council and should occur on a planned and reasonable basis in order that it is constructive and not destructive to the ability of officers to perform their duties. Planned appointments, where meetings are needed to further the interests of the council are the best way of arranging contact between members and officers. This protects the interests of the council and its employment responsibilities by ensuring that the ability of the officer to carry out the work of the council is not impeded and to ensure that the officer can set aside an appropriate amount of time to meet with and concentrate on a member or group of members.

6. MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONSHIPS AT FORMAL MEETINGS

- 6.1 Members and officers will wish to discuss policy issues and officers will often require political guidance in framing proposals. However, when officers write reports for member decision they have a duty to give the advice dictated by their professional expertise and in accordance with their own professional codes of conduct. In some instances an officer will be under a duty to submit a report on a particular matter. Officers expect to have their professional integrity respected and not to be influenced or required to reduce options, withhold information or make recommendations to the council they cannot professionally support.
- 6.2 The Clerk or other senior officers will always be responsible for the content of any report submitted in their name. This means that any such report will be amended only where the amendment reflects the professional judgement of the author of the report. Consequently, any issues arising between a member and the Clerk or other senior officer should be resolved informally if possible using appropriate line management, and where appropriate, progressing through relevant council procedure where more formal resolution becomes necessary.
- 6.3 Reports will always contain a recommendation unless the issue is clearly one where political judgement is required. Reports will always include the report author's job title. Members should raise issues with that officer prior to the meeting if at all possible.
- 6.4 The Chairman and members shall give officers the opportunity to present any report and give any advice they wish to give. Officers' advice must be full and impartial and should include all relevant options to enable a full considered decision of the council.
- 6.5 Members shall seek the advice of the Clerk where they consider there is a doubt about the legality and powers for a decision and to its reasonableness where they consider a

decision might be contrary to Standing Orders and or pre-determined policies of the council.

- 6.6 Members and officers should be mutually supportive in order to minimise any potential embarrassment to the council. Criticism of officers should be dealt with in private and by the same token, officers will never be publicly critical of the council or its policies.
- 6.7 At all times, members and officers should show respect to one another and although members are entitled to question officers at meetings they should avoid personal attacks on officers and ensure that criticism is constructive and well founded. Officers would expect to have the opportunity to explain what could appear to be a performance failure or inconsistency.
- 6.8 Whenever a public meeting is organised to consider a local issue, all the members representing the ward(s) affected should, as a matter of course, be invited to attend the meeting. Similarly, whenever the council undertakes any form of consultative exercise on a local issue, the ward members should be informed at the outset of the exercise.
- 6.9 The council's committee and sub-committee meetings have executive powers and as such are run in a formal manner. They are subject to the council's rules and procedures which can only be amended or waived by decision of the council. Members of the relevant body are required to consider and take decisions on the matters falling within the terms of reference of the body on behalf of the council. Officers present reports at these meetings, answer questions and provide advice and support and act as record keeper of proceedings by taking the minutes and recording members' declarations of interest.
- 6.10 From time to time the council will set up working groups or consultative committees. These are more informal bodies and have no executive powers to make decisions. Instead they may make recommendations to the relevant body (council, committee or sub-committee as the case may be) or may advise an officer to whom delegated power has been given. Officers are more likely to have a participative role, joining in the debate and contributing their own views and comments.
- 6.11 On occasion the council may be required to run an appeals panel whereby decisions are made and which affect the rights of subjects. There is usually a right for a person affected to appear before or make representations to the body which deliberates on the issues involved and takes a decision within legal guidance provided by officers. Officers who have not previously been involved with the case in question must provide such advice. Some of these bodies must be seen to be operating at arms' length from the original decision-maker on the matter.
- 6.12 The council is sometimes invited and in some instances has a right to be represented on outside bodies, both statutory and voluntary. The role to be exercised by the representative(s) may be to represent the collective view of the council or to act according to individual judgement. Members may attend meetings with outside bodies where they may be negotiating or putting forward the council's views but cannot bind any decision on the council when acting in such a capacity. Officers may need to attend to provide professional advice to the member representative and may also be asked to provide appropriate briefings. Members should note that declaration of interest requirements apply to their service on outside bodies.

7. OFFICER SUPPORT: MEMBER AND PARTY GROUPS

- 7.1 An officer's duty is to the council as a whole and not to an individual member, or to a political or other group of members. However, officers may be called upon to provide advice to the majority group or leading members. This should not preclude them offering a similar service to opposition groups.
- 7.2 It is practice for the political groups to give preliminary consideration to matters of council business in advance of consideration by the relevant council body. Meetings between the Clerk, Leader of Council and/or group leaders and/or Chairman of Council will be held when appropriate albeit that they have no executive powers.
- 7.3 In all dealings with members, in particular when giving advice to political party groups, officers must demonstrate political impartiality and must not suppress their professional advice in the face of political views.
- 7.4 Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty in this area of officer advice to political party groups should be raised with the Clerk who will then discuss them with the relevant group leader.
- 7.5 All members, not just those of the majority group, are entitled to receive confidential, but not covert, support and advice. All members shall be given timely access to information required in their role as councillor and shall have the same rights and obligations in their relationship with officers.
- 7.6 Officers will provide support services to members (e.g. stationery, typing, printing, photo-copying etc.) to assist them in discharging their role as members of the council. Such support services must only be used on council business and must never be used in connection with party political business or political campaigning activity.
- 7.7 Officers are neutral and do not serve a political group whereas members might have an affiliation with a particular group. However, members have a responsibility to the council and its electorate as a whole when making decisions. This does not exclude members and officers from reacting to a political issue where it affects the interests of the electorate in that area.

8. DELEGATED POWERS

- 8.1 The council may delegate power for executive functions to a committee, sub-committee or to an officer but cannot delegate to a member or group of members. There is a difference between one-off delegations to deal with a particular issue and permanent delegations which can only be agreed by the council. Powers may be delegated to a single officer and if in practice they are sub-delegated by a scheme of management this should be recorded and open to public inspection. In some instances authority is delegated to an officer in consultation with the Chairman, etc. However, the officer must not act under the dictation of a member and the officer remains accountable for the action taken.

9. MEMBERS' ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS

- 9.1 Members' rights to inspect council documents are restricted and will not apply to certain items, for example because they relate to individual employees. Officers will

Deleted: , transport

provide documents, which are, on the face of it, reasonably necessary to enable members to properly perform their duties for the council. This is often referred to as the 'need to know' principle. However, members do not have a roving commission to examine any documents nor access the computers of the council. Mere curiosity is not sufficient.

Deleted: C

- 9.2 A member requesting access to documents should direct their enquiry to the Clerk or other relevant senior officer. Officers will be concerned to furnish members with such information, advice and access to documents which they require for the proper performance of their duties conducted for the council. If disclosure of a document is in the officer's view either not required or not appropriate, they will inform the member and will give reasons why disclosure would not be appropriate.
- 9.3 In some circumstances, for example, a meeting of the council or its bodies and a member wishing to inspect documents relating to the business of that meeting, then a member's 'need to know' will normally be presumed. In other circumstances, for example, a member wishing to inspect documents which contain personal information about third parties, then the member will normally be expected to justify the request in specific terms.
- 9.4 Any council information provided to a member must only be used by the member for the purpose for which it was provided i.e. in connection with the proper performance of the member's duties as a member of the council, unless the information is already in the public domain.
- 9.5 Members must not disclose information given to them in confidence by anyone without the consent of the person authorised to give it, or unless they are required to do so. Equally, members must not prevent other persons from gaining access to information to which those persons are entitled by law.
- 9.6 To safeguard against possible breaches of Data Protection legislation (which applies to information of a personal nature) members should always seek advice from the Clerk before contemplating disclosing confidential information. Generally, personal information cannot be released without the consent of the person to whom it relates. Improper disclosure of confidential information can put the member and the council at legal and financial risk.
- 9.7 Any dispute regarding a member's access to a document or information should be referred for resolution using appropriate line management and, where needed, through formal council procedures.
- 9.8 Members should disclose interests they may have when asking for documents.

10. COMMUNICATIONS AND CORRESPONDENCE

- 10.1 Save in exceptional circumstances, all letters and other communications on official council business shall be sent out in the name of the Proper Officer (the Clerk). Communications which create obligations or give instructions on behalf of the council should never be sent out under the name of a member.
- 10.2 Correspondence between a member and an officer will not normally be copied (by the officer) to another member. However, if it is necessary to copy the correspondence to

another member, this will be made clear to the member who originated the correspondence.

11. PUBLIC RELATIONS AND PRESS RELEASES

- 11.1 The Clerk has overall responsibility for public relations and press releases on behalf of the council. Political and lobby/action group correspondence, press releases and publicity must not be issued at the initiative of a member or officer using the resources of the council.

However, there is nothing to prevent any member from communicating in a personal capacity with the media, but they should bear in mind that they are not doing so on behalf of the council and should not use council facilities or resources for this purpose.

- 11.2 Members should only use their title 'Councillor' when conducting official council business, when representing the council externally and/or when acting as advocates on behalf of their constituents and the wider community. The title should not be used for personal gain or advantage and nor should it be used to influence or support personal interests in the wider community whereby the use of the title might imply the council's support or backing for any such interest.

12. DISPUTES

- 12.1 With goodwill, respect and integrity on both sides, there ought to be very few occasions when a disagreement between an officer and a member cannot be resolved amicably. If there is a serious dispute of substance it should be discussed in the first instance between the member and the Clerk and dealt with using appropriate line management and, where needed, council procedures.
- 12.2 Most situations ought to be resolved outside the formal route but where this is not possible because of the circumstances then the most common formal routes of action for unresolved disputes and behaviour issues are recourse to disciplinary/grievance procedures (and in some cases employment tribunals) and reports of breach of the Members' Code of Conduct.
- 12.3 Bullying or harassment, of whatever kind, of officers by member(s) is unacceptable. Members should not use their position and knowledge of the council to place undue pressure on officers to take a different course of action than they would otherwise have done. Officers must be afforded suitable support and protection when they feel that members' expectations are overbearing and unreasonably demanding or in conflict with managerial instruction or council policy or procedure.
- 12.4 In instances where an officer wishes to raise a grievance for alleged bullying or harassment, reference should be made to the council's 'Dignity at Work/Bullying and Harassment Policy Statement' for initial guidance. The council's existing grievance procedure will be used as the framework for dealing with such issues. However, the procedure may need to be varied as appropriate in order to accommodate a grievance being raised against a member(s).
- 12.5 Where a grievance is raised by an officer, depending on its nature and subject to the officer's agreement, it could be pursued as a civic matter in preference to it being pursued strictly as an employment matter. For example, when a grievance is raised

against the Chairman of Council. In which case, the issue having been escalated using appropriate line management procedures may ultimately be referred to the council's Civic and Ceremonial Committee for its consideration as opposed to the council's Policy and Resources Committee.

- 12.6 The Civic and Ceremonial Committee may examine any dispute issues concerning the conduct of the Chairman or Vice Chairman of Council towards an officer(s) (to which section 9 of the Framework for the Guidance of the Chairman Elect and Vice Chairman Elect adopted by the Council on 10 February 2009 refers). Depending on how serious the issue is the committee may decide it can deal with the matter without referral elsewhere. If this is not possible it may decide to refer it on to the council for it to determine what action might be appropriate and/or to consider any recommendations made by the committee.

Alternatively the Civic and Ceremonial Committee may decide to refer the matter to the Policy and Resources Committee. If the officer(s) does not wish to follow this civic route then the matter shall be escalated as an employment matter using appropriate line management procedures with it ultimately being referred to the Policy and Resources Committee. The only recourse then open to the committee if the grievance is upheld is to refer the matter to the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) for a potential breach of the Members' Code of Conduct, having sought advice from the Monitoring Officer at Carmarthenshire County Council if need be.

- 12.7 Members have the right to criticise reports or the actions taken by officers but as stated earlier they should always avoid personal attacks on officers and ensure that criticism is constructive and well founded. Members should avoid undermining respect for officers at meetings, or in any public forum. This would be damaging both to effective working relationships and to the public image of the council. It would also undermine the mutual trust and courtesy that is an essential element of a well run council.
- 12.8 Complaints about officers, council services or staffing issues will be referred to the Clerk to be dealt with in accordance with council procedures. The Clerk will arrange for the issue to be investigated using the appropriate line management procedure available to him and will inform the complainant of the outcome and whether any action is to be taken. If action is to be taken it may be necessary to pursue the complaint using the council's disciplinary procedure.
- 12.9 In the event of action being taken against an officer a member must not attempt to influence the level of disciplinary action to be taken nor insist (nor seem to insist) that an officer is disciplined.
- 12.10 If a member is not satisfied with the outcome then the complaint may be escalated in accordance with council procedures.
- 12.11 False complaints or malicious allegations of bullying or harassment will not be tolerated and will be dealt with as serious misconduct under the disciplinary procedure and/or a referral to the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales).

13. RESPONSIBILITIES

- 13.1 All parties to the council have a responsibility to ensure that their conduct towards others does not harass or bully or in any way demean the dignity of others. If

unacceptable behaviour is observed then each individual can challenge the perpetrator and ask them to stop.

14. INTERPRETATION AND FURTHER ADVICE

- 14.1 Questions of interpretation of this protocol will be determined by the Clerk. Advice on its application should also be referred to the Clerk.
- 14.2 Copies of this protocol will be issued to all members, upon election, and all line managers.

SECTION 10

LLANELLI RURAL COUNCIL

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

These financial regulations were reviewed and adopted by the council at its meeting held on ~~11 November 2025~~.

Deleted: 8 March, 2022

1. GENERAL

- 1.1 These financial regulations govern the conduct of the financial transactions of the council and may only be amended or varied by resolution of the council.
- 1.2 The Responsible Financial Officer (RFO), under the policy direction of the council, shall be responsible for the proper administration of the council's financial affairs.
- 1.3 The RFO shall be responsible for the production of financial management information.
- 1.4 The council shall be responsible for ensuring that the financial management is adequate and effective and that the council has a system of internal controls which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and which manages risk.
- 1.5 The council shall review at least once a year the effectiveness of its systems of internal controls and shall produce a statement on internal control with its statement of accounts
- 1.6 Each committee or sub-committee shall be responsible for the observance of the council's financial regulations in all matters under their control.

2. ANNUAL ESTIMATES

- 2.1 Detailed estimates of all income and expenditure for the forthcoming financial year shall be prepared each year by the RFO.
- 2.2 Each committee responsible for formulating estimates shall submit proposals to the council in respect of revenue and capital costs for the following financial year not later than mid February each year based on the estimates prepared by the RFO in 2.1 above.
- 2.3 The council shall review the estimates not later than the end of February each year and shall agree the budget and fix the Precept to be levied for the ensuing financial year. The RFO shall supply each member with a copy of the approved budgets.
- 2.4 The annual budgets shall form the basis of financial control for the ensuing year.

3. BUDGETARY CONTROL

- 3.1 Expenditure on revenue items may be incurred up to the amounts included in the approved budget.
- 3.2 Where it appears that the amount of any head of estimate of income and expenditure may be exceeded or the amount of any head of approved income may not be reached,

it shall be the duty of the RFO to inform the committee concerned. The RFO may vire between subheads where required and report the action to the relevant committee.

- 3.3 The RFO shall regularly provide the Finance and General Purposes Committee with a statement of income and expenditure to date under each head of the budgets, comparing actual expenditure against that planned.

- 3.4 The Clerk, ~~Deputy Clerk~~ and ~~Governance and Projects Manager~~ may incur expenditure on behalf of the council, in consultation with the Chairman and Leader of Council, which is necessary to carry out any repair replacement or other work which is of such extreme urgency that it must be done at once. The action shall be reported to the appropriate committee as soon as practicable thereafter.

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

- 3.5 Unspent provisions in the revenue budget shall not be carried forward to a subsequent year unless specifically earmarked for essential work or identified projects.

- 3.6 Standing committees may only make recommendations to the council on carrying out capital schemes.

- 3.7 No expenditure shall be incurred in relation to any capital project and no contract entered into or tender accepted involving capital expenditure unless the council is satisfied that the necessary funds are available, or the requisite borrowing approval has been obtained.

- 3.8 All capital works shall be administered in accordance with the council's standing orders and financial regulations relating to contracts.

- 3.9 Capital schemes shall be prioritised by the council at regular intervals.

- 3.10 The inclusion of items in approved revenue estimates or capital programmes shall constitute authority to incur such expenditure save to the extent to which the council shall have placed a reservation on any such item or items. Expenditure on any such reserved items may be incurred only when and to the extent that such reservation has been removed.

4. ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT

- 4.1 All accounting procedures and financial records of the council shall be determined by the RFO as required by the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 (hereinafter referred to as the "Regulations"), and any subsequent amendments thereto.

- 4.2 The RFO shall be responsible for ensuring the completion of the Accounts of the council and for submitting for approval and authorisation by the council within the timescale set by the Regulations or set by the Auditor.

- 4.3 The RFO shall be responsible for ensuring that there is an adequate and effective system of internal audit of the council's accounting, financial and other operations in accordance with the Regulations. Any officer or member of the council shall, if the RFO or Internal Auditor requires, make available such documents of the council which appear to the RFO or Internal Auditor to be necessary for the purpose of the internal audit and shall supply the RFO or Internal Auditor with such information and explanation as the RFO or Internal Auditor considers necessary for that purpose.

- 4.4 The council shall carry out a review of the effectiveness of internal audit on an annual basis in accordance with the Regulations.
- 4.5 The Internal Auditor shall carry out the work required by the RFO and the council, with a view to satisfactory completion of the Internal Auditor's Report. The Internal Auditor, who shall be competent and independent of the operations of the council, shall report to council in writing on a regular basis with a minimum of one annual report in respect of each financial year.
- 4.6 The RFO shall make arrangements for the opportunity for inspection of the accounts, books, and vouchers required by the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and any subsequent amendments thereto, and the Regulations.
- 4.7 The RFO shall, as soon as practicable, bring to the attention of the Finance and General Purposes Committee any correspondence or report from the Internal Auditor, ~~whereas any correspondence or report received from the~~ External Auditor, ~~shall be reported to the council.~~
- 4.8 The RFO or nominated officer shall have authority to enter at all reasonable times on any council premises or land and have access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial and other transactions of the council.
- 4.9 Whenever any matter arises which involves, or is thought to involve irregularities concerning cash, stores or any other property of the council or any suspected irregularity, the RFO shall take steps as considered necessary by way of investigation and report.

5. BANKING ARRANGEMENTS AND PAYMENTS

- 5.1 The council's banking arrangements shall be made by the RFO and approved by the Finance and General Purposes Committee. They shall be regularly reviewed for efficiency.
- 5.2 Schedule of the payments made during the prior month, forming part of the agenda for the meeting, shall be prepared by the RFO and, together with the relevant invoices, be presented to the Finance and General Purposes Committee. If the schedule is in order it shall be authorised by a resolution of the committee and shall be signed by the Chairman of the Meeting. If more appropriate the detail may be shown in the minutes of the meeting.
- 5.3 BACS transfers, cheques, direct debits etc. drawn on the bank account in accordance with the schedule referred to in paragraph 5.2 shall be signed by two members of council and a nominated officer.

6. PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS

- 6.1 All payments shall be effected by BACS or other order drawn on the council's bankers.
- 6.2 All invoices for payment shall be examined, verified and certified by the RFO. The RFO shall satisfy him/herself that the work, goods or services to which the invoice relates shall have been received, carried out, examined and approved.

Deleted: or

Deleted: unless the correspondence is of a purely administrative matter....

6.3 The RFO shall ensure that invoices are examined in relation to arithmetic accuracy and that they are analysed to the appropriate expenditure heading. All steps shall be taken to settle all invoices submitted within an appropriate timescale.

6.4 The RFO may provide petty cash to officers for the purpose of defraying operational and other expenses. Vouchers for payments made shall be made with a claim for reimbursement:

- a) Administrative Officers shall maintain a petty cash imprest for the purpose of defraying operational and other expenses. Vouchers for payments made from petty cash shall be kept to substantiate the payment.
- b) Income received must not be paid into the petty cash float but must be separately banked, as provided elsewhere in these regulations.
- c) Payments to maintain the petty cash float shall be shown separately on the schedule of payments presented to council under 5.2 above.

Commented [MG8]: This paragraph will need to be deleted once the petty cash imprest has been used up as the decision has been made to remove it from use.

7. PAYMENT OF SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES

7.1 The payment of all salaries shall be made in accordance with payroll records and the rules of PAYE and National Insurance currently operating, and salaries shall be as agreed by the Policy and Resources Committee in line with the extant national pay negotiating agreements.

7.2 Payment of salaries and payment of deductions from salary such as may be made for tax, national insurance and pension contributions, may be made in accordance with the payroll records and on the appropriate dates, provided that the net payment is reported to the next meeting of the Finance and General Purposes Committee.

7.3 All claims for payment of attendance and subsistence allowances, travelling and incidental expenses must be submitted, duly certified on a form approved by the RFO, up to the 16th day of each month to the appropriate line manager for authorisation.

7.4 Payments to members, including co-opted members of the council or its committees who are entitled to claim travelling or other allowances will be certified by the RFO upon receipt of the prescribed form duly completed by the 16th day of each month.

7.5 Salaries, wages and members' allowances shall be paid by BACS.

7.6 Claims submitted more than six months after the end of the financial year when the expenses were incurred, will only be paid with the approval of the RFO.

8. LOANS AND INVESTMENTS

8.1 All loans and investments shall be negotiated in the name of the council and shall be for a set period in accordance with council policy.

8.2 The council's Investment Policy shall be reviewed on a regular basis (at least annually).

8.3 All investments of money under the control of the council shall be in the name of the council.

8.4 All borrowings shall be effected in the name of the council, after obtaining any necessary borrowing approval. Any application for borrowing approval shall be approved by the council as to terms and purpose.

8.5 All investment certificates and other documents relating thereto shall be retained in the custody of the RFO.

9. INCOME

9.1 The collection of all sums due to the council shall be the responsibility of and under the supervision of the RFO.

9.2 Particulars of all charges to be made for work done, services rendered or goods supplied shall be agreed annually by the appropriate committee.

9.3 The council will review all fees and charges annually, following a report of the RFO.

9.4 Any sums found to be irrecoverable and any bad debts shall be reported to the Finance and General Purposes Committee and shall be written off in the year.

9.5 All sums received on behalf of the council shall be banked intact as directed by the RFO. In all cases, all receipts shall be deposited with the council's bankers with such frequency as the RFO considers necessary.

9.6 The origin of each receipt shall be entered on the paying-in slip.

9.7 Personal cheques shall not be cashed out of money held on behalf of the council.

9.8 The RFO shall promptly complete any VAT Return that is required. Any repayment claim due shall be made quarterly.

10. ORDERS FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES

10.1 An official order or letter shall be issued for all work, goods and services unless a formal contract is to be prepared or an official order would be inappropriate. Copies of orders shall be retained and kept with the invoice relating to the purchase.

10.2 Order books shall be controlled by the RFO.

10.3 All members and officers are responsible for obtaining value for money at all times. An officer issuing an official order is to ensure as far as reasonable practicable that the best available terms are obtained in respect of each transaction, usually by obtaining three or more quotations or estimates from appropriate suppliers, subject to any *de minimis* provisions in Regulation 11 (1) below.

11. CONTRACTS

11.1 Procedures as to contracts are laid down as follows:

- (a) Every contract shall comply with these financial regulations, and no exceptions shall be made otherwise than in an emergency provided that these regulations shall not apply to contracts which relate to items (i) to (v) below:

- (i) for goods or materials proposed to be purchased which are proprietary articles and/or are only sold at a fixed price.
- (ii) for the supply of water and sewerage services;
- (iii) for specialist professional services such as are provided by solicitors, accountants, architects and planning consultants etc;
- (iv) for work to be executed or goods or materials to be supplied which consist of repairs to or parts for existing machinery or equipment or plant;
- (v) for work to be executed or goods or materials to be supplied which constitute an extension of an existing contract by the council;
- (b) Where it is intended to enter into a contract exceeding £30,000 in value for the supply of goods or materials or for the execution of works or specialist services other than such goods, materials, works or specialist services as are excepted as set out in paragraph (a) the Clerk to the Council or nominated officer shall invite tenders from at least three firms to be taken from the appropriate approved list.
- (c) Tenders may be invited from contractors for capital works listed in Carmarthenshire County Council's Contractor and Consultancy Framework in lieu of the Sell2Wales initiative.
- (d) When applications are made to waive financial regulations relating to contracts to enable a price to be negotiated without competition the reason shall be embodied in a recommendation to the council.
- (e) Such invitation to tender shall state the general nature of the intended contract and the Clerk to the Council or other nominated officer shall obtain the necessary technical assistance to prepare a specification in appropriate cases. The invitation shall in addition state that tenders must be addressed to the Clerk to the Council or each tendering firm shall be supplied with a specifically marked envelope in which the tender is to be sealed and remain sealed until the prescribed date for opening tenders for that contract.
- (f) In some instances, where it may not be possible to draw up a specification, quotations will be invited for the goods or services required and treated in the same manner as a tender would.
- (g) All sealed tenders shall be opened at the same time on the prescribed date by the RFO, or nominated officer, in the presence of the Chairman of Council.
- (h) All details of tender documents issued and returned must be entered into the Tender Monitoring Book.
- (i) Any tender received after the specified time shall be returned promptly to the tenderer. The tender may be opened to ascertain the name of the tenderer but no details of the tender shall be disclosed.

Commented [MG9]: The previous sum of £25,000 was set 3.5 years ago. Using UK inflation data (CPI) prices have risen by 20% cumulatively over that period. Adjusting £25,000 to keep pace with inflation = $25,000 \times 1.2 = £30,000$.

Deleted: 25,000

- (j) A late tender may be considered if it can be satisfied that there is evidence of posting in time for delivering by the due date in the normal course of post delivery, or the other tenders have not been determined.
- (k) If less than three tenders are received for contracts above £30,000, or if all the tenders are identical the council may make such arrangements as it thinks fit for procuring the goods or materials or executing the works.
- (l) When it is intended to enter into a contract less than £30,000 in value for the supply of goods or materials or for the execution of works or specialist services other than such goods, materials, works or specialist services as are excepted as set out in paragraph (a) the Clerk, Deputy Clerk, Governance and Projects Manager or nominated officer shall obtain 3 quotations (priced descriptions of the proposed supply); where the value is below £6,000 and above £2,000 the officers shall strive to obtain 3 estimates and market checking will be undertaken to demonstrate value for money. Otherwise, Regulation 10 (3) above shall apply.
- (m) Where examination of tenders reveal errors or discrepancies which would affect the tender figure(s) in an otherwise successful tender, the tenderer is to be given details of such errors and discrepancies and afforded an opportunity of confirming or withdrawing the offer.
- (n) If the tenderer withdraws, the next tenderer in competitive order is to be examined and dealt with in the same way. Any exception to this procedure may be authorised only by, or on behalf of, the committee concerned after consideration of a report of the officer concerned.
- (o) The council shall not be obliged to accept the lowest or any tender, quotation or estimate.
- (p) If the tender accepted is not the lowest received, reasons for the selection must be reported to or documented by the committee responsible for the contract.
- (q) A member must not discuss the content of a tender document with a contractor.

12. PAYMENTS UNDER CONTRACTS FOR BUILDING OR OTHER CONSTRUCTION WORKS

- 12.1 Payments on account of the contract sum shall be made within the time specified in the contract by the RFO upon authorisation by the Governance and Projects Manager or authorised certificates of the architect or other consultants engaged to supervise the contract (subject to any percentage withholding as may be agreed in the particular contract).
- 12.2 Where contracts provide for payment by instalments the RFO shall maintain a record of all such payments. In any case where it is estimated that the total cost of work carried out under a contract, excluding agreed variations, will exceed the contract sum of 5% or more a report shall be submitted to the council.
- 12.3 Any variation to a contract or addition to or omission from a contract must be approved prior to the instruction being given to the Contractor. The council would be informed where the final cost is likely to exceed the financial provision.

Deleted: 25,000

Deleted: 25,000

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

Deleted: 5,000

Deleted: 1,000

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

- 12.4 The ~~Governance and Projects Manager~~ shall examine final accounts for contracts, obtain necessary information and explanation to satisfy the accuracy of the accounts.

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

13. STORES AND EQUIPMENT

- 13.1 The officer in charge of each section shall be responsible for the care and custody of stores and equipment in that section.
- 13.2 Delivery notes shall be obtained in respect of all goods received into store or otherwise delivered and goods must be checked as to order and quality at the time delivery is made.
- 13.3 Stocks shall be kept at the minimum levels consistent with operational requirements.
- 13.4 The officer in charge shall be responsible for periodic checks of stocks and stores at least annually.
- 13.5 Council property shall not be removed other than in the course of business or used otherwise than for council's purposes except by direction issued by the Clerk to the Council ~~Deputy Clerk or Governance and Projects Manager~~.

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

14. PROPERTIES AND ESTATES

- 14.1 The Clerk shall make appropriate arrangements for the custody of all title deeds of properties owned by the council. The ~~Governance and Projects Manager~~ shall ensure a record is maintained of all properties owned by the council, recording the location, extent, plan, reference, purchase details, nature of the interest, tenancies granted, rents payable and purpose for which held in accordance with Regulation 4(3)(b) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996 as amended.
- 14.2 No property shall be sold, leased or otherwise disposed of without the authority of the council, together with any other consents required by law, save where the estimated value of any one item of tangible movable property does not exceed £100.

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

15. INSURANCE

- 15.1 Following an annual risk assessment, the RFO shall ~~affect~~ all insurances and negotiate all claims on the council's insurers
- 15.2 The RFO should arrange insurance cover for all new risks, properties or vehicles which require to be insured and of any alterations affecting existing insurances.
- 15.3 The RFO shall keep a record of all insurances effected by the council and the property and risks covered thereby and annually review it.
- 15.4 The RFO shall be notified of any loss liability or damage or of any event likely to lead to a claim.
- 15.5 All appropriate employees of the council shall be included in a suitable fidelity guarantee insurance which shall cover the maximum risk exposure as determined by the council.

Deleted: effect

16. CHARITIES

- 16.1 Where the council is sole trustee of a charitable body the Clerk and RFO shall ensure that separate accounts are kept of the funds held on charitable trusts and separate financial reports made in such form as shall be appropriate, in accordance with Charity Law and legislation, or as determined by the Charity Commission. The Clerk and RFO shall arrange for any Audit or Independent Examination as may be required by Charity Law or any Governing Document.

17. RISK MANAGEMENT

- 17.1 The Clerk with the RFO shall prepare and promote risk management policy statements in respect of all activities of the Council.
- 17.2 When considering any new activity the Clerk, Deputy Clerk and Governance and Projects Manager shall prepare a draft Risk Management policy for the activity and shall bring a draft addressing the legal and financial liabilities and Risk Management issues that arise to council for consideration and, if thought appropriate, adoption.
- 17.3 The council shall carry out a Financial Risk Assessment.

18. REVISION OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

- 18.1 It shall be the duty of the council to review the financial regulations of the council from time to time.

Deleted: Technical and General Operations Manager

SCHEDULE

STANDARD SERVICE SPECIFICATION

This schedule supersedes the schedule prepared in support of the Grounds Maintenance Services Service Level Agreement enacted by the Parties on 13 September 2017. The Parties have conducted a comprehensive review of this schedule to better reflect current operational practices. Consequently, the range of services provided by the contractor to the client has been extended to include additional tasks, which are depicted in the Technical Works specification table below. Adjustments have been also made to the annual operation totals in other tables within this schedule and the appended charts provide a site-specific overview of operational activities, offering a clearer and more detailed description of the services delivered by the contractor at each client site.

In accordance with paragraphs 18 and 20 of the grounds maintenance service level agreement, this schedule also provides more specific information about client contribution rates for the reimbursement of necessary costs and expenses, supported by example illustrations, where appropriate.

Sports Turf Maintenance (the physical playing surface only)

Football specification – Annual Operation totals

	Quantity	
Mow @ 25mm to 35mm	30	Not collected
Slit pitch	12	
Pencil tine	4	
Hollow core	1	
Verti drain	1	
Top dress	1	Labour only
Overseed	2	Labour only
Minor repairs (small holes)	26	Labour only
Goal mouth renovations	1	Labour only
Fertilise	3	Labour only
Chain harrow	1	
Pre-season set up	1	Labour only
Goal post removal/erection	1	
Line marking	42	Labour only
Rolling	4	

Rugby specification – Annual Operation totals

Mow @ 35mm to 55mm	30	Not collected
Slit pitch	12	
Pencil tine	4	
Hollow core	1	
Verti drain	3	
Top dress	1	Labour only
Overseed	1	Labour only
Minor repairs (small holes)	26	Labour only
Bare area renovations	1	Labour only
Fertilise	3	Labour only
Chain harrow	6	

Pre-season set up	1	Labour only
Goal post removal/erection	1	
Line marking	42	Labour only
Rolling	4	

Bowling green specification – Annual Operation totals

Mow playing height and winter	90	Collected and removed off site
Trim edges	20	
Pencil tine	10	
Sarrel roll	8	
Hollow core	1	
Top dress	2	Labour only
Overseed	1	Labour only
Minor repairs	23	Labour only
Fertilise	16	Labour only
Light roll	2	
Scarify	2	
Verticut	8	
Apply selective weed control	6	Labour only
Ditch works	2	Labour only
Apply fungicide	2	Labour only
Edge back green	2	
Slit	10	
Brush	100	

Cricket Square and Outfield specification – Annual Operation totals

Mow square and strip 25mm-5mm	98	Collected and removed off site
Set out crease	24	
Pencil tine	6	
Sarrel roll	20	
Hollow core	1	
Top dress	1	Labour only
Overseed	2	Labour only
Minor repairs	24	Labour only
Fertilise	2	Labour only
Rolling	72	
Scarify	12	
Verticut	24	
Apply selective weed control	2	Labour only
Mow outfield	48	

General grounds maintenance at all sites

Surrounding and outlying areas within the park boundary not deemed as a playing surface

Mowing lawned areas	20	Not collected
Strimming around furniture (posts, benches etc.)	20	
Strimming boundary fences, banks and walls	20	
Apply weed killer where necessary	2	Labour only
Cut hedging and shrubs (new growth only)	4	
Blowing	30	

Technical Works specification

Advise and prepare basic technical specifications for small scale recreational capital projects and repairs.
Provide technical support for pricing and overseeing small scale recreational capital projects and repairs.
Perform manpower tasks to help maintain the condition of recreational facilities and assets for example, painting and general decorating services, basic landscaping and ground repairs.
Advise the client on aspects relating to the management and upkeep of recreational facilities.

Reimbursement of Costs and Expenses

The contractor shall be entitled to reimbursement for costs and expenses incurred in the course of service delivery as detailed below.

Employee-Related Costs

Reimbursement shall be calculated based on the equivalent of two grounds maintenance workers. The following cost components to be included:

- **Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), Clothing and Welfare Provisions**
Includes essential items required for safe and compliant operations, such as sunscreen, sanitising wipes and first aid kits.
- **Occupational Health Surveillance**
Covers annual health monitoring appointments for grounds maintenance workers.

Training Costs

Training expenses shall be reimbursed under the following conditions:

- **Mandatory Training**
Applicable to all grounds maintenance workers, for illustration purposes, first aid training. Costs will be charged for two workers.
- **Specialised training**
Costs for role-specific training (e.g. plant machinery, chainsaw use) shall be shared between councils based on staff participation and operational relevance. For illustration purposes, where training is undertaken by chainsaw operators, 50% of the cost shall be recharged to the client.

Vehicle and Machinery Maintenance and Repair

The contractor shall be reimbursed 50% of costs incurred in the maintenance and repair of vehicles, machinery and equipment for fair wear and tear in connection with any work or activity performed on behalf of the client.

Fuel

Due to the proximity of the client's operational sites to the depot, the client shall be recharged 25% of the total fuel costs incurred in connection with services rendered under this agreement.

Shared Materials

The contractor shall be reimbursed by the client for 50% of shared materials procured for grounds maintenance activities. Materials may include, but are not limited to graffiti remover, moss killer, line marking paint, topsoil, sand, herbicide, fertiliser and sodium hypochlorite.

This schedule accurately reflects the understanding between the Parties,

Signed on this.....day of..... 2025

Per: _____
Chairman, Llanelli Rural Council

Per: _____
Mayor, Llanelli Town Council

Per: _____
Clerk, Llanelli Rural Council

Per: _____
Clerk, Llanelli Town Council

Llanelli Rural Council (Party)

Llanelli Town Council (Party)

Bryn Yard Operational activities	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Grass cut				14	14	14	14	14	14	14			98
Blow				2	2	2	2	2	2	2			14
Hedge cutting				12							12		24
Leaf clearance													
Low maintenance grass cutting													
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces													
Herbicide													
Additional work completed through the year as required													
Clean park/play equipment													
Rake over bark mulch													
Rake sand and weed													
Splashpads													
Woodstain to benches													
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut													
Aerate													
Chain harrow													
Renovation/fertilise													
Marking as required													
Posts in/out													
Cricket outfield													
Cut													
Fine turf													
Mow													
Aerate													
Top dress													
Brush													
Fertilise													
Verti-cut													
Totals				28	16	16	16	16	16	16	12		136

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Bwlch / Morfa	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Operational activities													
Grass cut			6	9	6	9	6	9	6	6	3		60
Blow			2	3	2	3	2	3	2	2	1		20
Hedge cutting					8					8	16		32
Leaf clearance													
Low maintenance grass cutting										6	10		16
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces	4	4									4	4	16
Herbicide				2		2		2		4			10
Additional work completed through the year as required													
Clean park/play equipment		2									2		4
Rake over bark mulch													
Rake sand and weed													
Splashpads													
Woodstain to benches													
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut													
Aerate													
Chain harrow													
Renovation/fertilise													
Marking as required													
Posts in/out													
Cricket outfield													
Cut													
Fine turf													
Mow													
Aerate													
Top dress													
Brush													
Fertilise													
Verti-cut													
Totals	4	6	8	14	16	14	8	14	8	26	36	4	158

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Clos yr Ysgol Operational activities	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Grass cut			3	4.5	3	4.5	3	4.5	3	3	1.5		30
Blow			1	1.5	1	1.5	1	1.5	1	1	0.5		10
Hedge cutting					12					12			24
Leaf clearance													
Low maintenance grass cutting													
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces													
Herbicide				1.5		1.5		1.5					4.5
Additional work completed through the year as required													
Clean park/play equipment		10									10		20
Rake over bark mulch													
Rake sand and weed													
Splashpads													
Woodstain to benches													
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut													
Aerate													
Chain harrow													
Renovation/fertilise													
Marking as required													
Posts in/out													
Cricket outfield													
Cut													
Fine turf													
Mow													
Aerate													
Top dress													
Brush													
Fertilise													
Verti-cut													
Totals		10	4	7.5	16	7.5	4	7.5	4	16	12		88.5

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Crown Park Operational activities	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Grass cut			20	30	20	30	20	30	20	20	10		200
Blow			2	3	2	3	2	3	2	2	1		20
Hedge cutting													
Leaf clearance													
Low maintenance grass cutting										62	20		82
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces													
Herbicide				3		3		3					9
Additional work completed through the year as required													
Clean park/play equipment		12									12		24
Rake over bark mulch													
Rake sand and weed													
Splashpads													
Woodstain to benches													
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut		4	4	8	4	8	8	8	8	8	4		64
Aerate	10	10	10		10	10	10		10	10	10	10	100
Chain harrow				10									10
Renovation/fertilise					36				36				72
Marking as required	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5					12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	100
Posts in/out													
Cricket outfield													
Cut			4	4	10	10	10	10	10				58
Fine turf													
Mow													
Aerate													
Top dress													
Brush													
Fertilise													
Verti-cut													
Totals	22.5	38.5	52.5	70.5	82	64	50	54	98.5	114.5	69.5	22.5	739

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Havelock Operational activities	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Grass cut			16	24	16	24	16	24	16	16	8		160
Blow			4	6	4	6	4	6	4	4	2		40
Hedge cutting							32			32			64
Leaf clearance										3	6	3	12
Low maintenance grass cutting													
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces	12	6	6	6	6					6	12	6	60
Herbicide				4				4					8
Additional work completed through the year as required													
Clean park/play equipment		16									16		32
Rake over bark mulch													
Rake sand and weed													
Splashpads					16								16
Woodstain to benches					6						6		12
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut													
Aerate													
Chain harrow													
Renovation/fertilise													
Marking as required													
Posts in/out													
Cricket outfield													
Cut													
Fine turf													
Mow	10	10	20	20	30	30	30	30	20	20	10	10	240
Aerate		2.5	2.5		2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	16		2.5		33.5
Top dress	2.5	2.5		2.5					16	2.5	2.5	2.5	31
Brush	3	3	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	2	3	2	48
Fertilise	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	16	2.5	2.5		41
Verti-cut					2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5					10
Totals	30	42.5	56	70	90.5	72.5	94.5	76.5	93	88	70.5	23.5	807.5

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Nightingale Court Operational activities	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Grass cut			2	3	2	3	2	3	2	2	1		20
Blow			2	3	2	3	2	3	2	2	1		20
Hedge cutting					3					3			6
Leaf clearance													
Low maintenance grass cutting													
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces													
Herbicide				1.5		1.5		1.5					4.5
Additional work completed through the year as required													
Clean park/play equipment		3									3		6
Rake over bark mulch					2			2			2		6
Rake sand and weed													
Splashpads													
Woodstain to benches		2									2		4
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut													
Aerate													
Chain harrow													
Renovation/fertilise													
Marking as required													
Posts in/out													
Cricket outfield													
Cut													
Fine turf													
Mow													
Aerate													
Top dress													
Brush													
Fertilise													
Verti-cut													
Totals		5	4	7.5	9	7.5	4	9.5	4	7	9		66.5

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Parc y Dre Operational activities	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Grass cut			20	30	20	30	20	30	20	20	10		200
Blow			4	6	4	6	4	6	4	4	2		40
Hedge cutting							48			48			96
Leaf clearance										16	48	16	80
Low maintenance grass cutting													
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces	12	6								6	12	6	42
Herbicide			6	6	6	4		4					26
Additional work completed through the year as required				4									4
Clean park/play equipment		16									16		32
Rake over bark mulch													
Rake sand and weed	6		6		6		6						24
Splashpads													
Woodstain to benches		6									6		12
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut		1.5	3	4.5	1.5	3	3	3	3	3	1.5		27
Aerate	4	4	4		4	4	4		4	4	4	4	40
Chain harrow				4							4		8
Renovation/fertilise					15				3				18
Marking as required	5	5	5	5					5	5	5	4	39
Posts in/out													
Cricket outfield													
Cut													
Fine turf													
Mow	10	10	20	20	30	30	30	30	20	20	10	10	240
Aerate		2.5	2.5		2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	16		2.5		33.5
Top dress	2.5	2.5		2.5					16	2.5	2.5	2.5	31
Brush	3	3	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	2	3	2	48
Fertilise	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	16	2.5	2.5		41
Verti-cut					2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5					10
Totals	45	59	78	89.5	99	89.5	127.5	85.5	112	133	129	44.5	1091.5

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Penyfan Operational activities	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Grass cut			28	42	28	42	28	42	28	28	14		280
Blow			4	6	4	6	4	6	4	4	2		40
Hedge cutting													
Leaf clearance													
Low maintenance grass cutting					1.5		1.5		1.5	1.5			6
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces													
Herbicide				4									4
Additional work completed through the year as required						4		4					8
Clean park/play equipment		16			16						16		48
Rake over bark mulch													
Rake sand and weed													
Splashpads													
Woodstain to benches													
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut		3	6	9	3	6	6	6	6	6	3		54
Aerate	8	8	8		8	8	8		8	8	8	8	80
Chain harrow				8									8
Renovation/fertilise					20				4				24
Marking as required	10	10	10	10					10	10	10	10	80
Posts in/out													
Cricket outfield													
Cut													
Fine turf													
Mow													
Aerate													
Top dress													
Brush													
Fertilise													
Verti-cut													
Totals	18	37	56	79	80.5	66	47.5	58	61.5	57.5	53	18	632

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Penygaer Operational activities	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	Totals
Grass cut			12	18	12	18	12	18	12	12	6		120
Blow			2	3	2	3	2	3	2	2	1		20
Hedge cutting													
Leaf clearance													
Low maintenance grass cutting										32	16		48
Path clearance/sweep hard surfaces													
Herbicide				2		2		2					6
Additional work completed through the year as required													
Clean park/play equipment													
Rake over bark mulch													
Rake sand and weed													
Splashpads													
Woodstain to benches													
Soccer/rugby pitches													
Cut		6	12	18	6	12	12	12	12	12	6		108
Aerate	16	16	16		16	16	16		16	16	16	16	160
Chain harrow				16									16
Renovation/fertilise					30				6				36
Marking as required	35	35	35	35					35	35	35	35	280
Posts in/out				10				10					20
Cricket outfield													
Cut													
Fine turf													
Mow													
Aerate													
Top dress													
Brush													
Fertilise													
Verti-cut													
Totals	51	57	77	102	66	51	42	45	83	109	80	51	814

Figures relate to number of man hours for the month

Schedule of reported matters by Members

Item No.	Date	Raised by	Description	Action	Matters Resolved/Outcome
1.	13/10/25	Cllr. A. J. Rogers	Rubbish strewn near a property in Clos Cilsaig, Dafen	CCC	

Judith Smith

From: Caroline Davies <carolined@cerebralpalsycymru.org>
Sent: 28 October 2025 10:00
To: Accounts
Subject: RE: Llanelli Rural Council - Remittance advice for payment C137

Good Morning

On behalf of Cerebral Palsy Cymru, we would like to extend our warmest thanks to you and the Members of Llanelli Rural Council for the very kind donation of £100.00 recently received. As you are aware, this will help us to ensure that we can reach the children and families living with cerebral palsy, that need our support.

Last year we provided 1203 specialist therapy sessions to 331 babies and children across Wales. Since the start of this financial year, we have already received 33% more referrals of babies compared to the same period last year.

The demand for our services is continuing to grow every year, and we know that if babies at risk of cerebral palsy have to wait to receive our specialist therapy, then the window of opportunity to make the greatest change to their future outcomes, which occurs during the first two years of their life, gets smaller. We don't want this to happen to any family.

Thank you all so much for your support, it is very much appreciated.

Best Wishes

Caroline

-----Original Message-----

From: Accounts <Accounts@llanelli-rural.gov.uk>
Sent: 27 October 2025 14:23
To: Fundraising <fundraising@cerebralpalsycymru.org>
Subject: Llanelli Rural Council - Remittance advice for payment C137

I hereby confirm that the sum of £100.00 has been paid by BACS/Online File as outlined in the attached document.

If you have any queries please contact us on 01554 774103.

Kind Regards
Llanelli Rural Council

LANEILLI RURAL COMMUNITY COUNCIL	
DATE	20 OCT 2025
FILE REF.	
PASSED TO	CL

Please accept my sincere thanks
for the work done by

Gereth Austin (Facilities mgr)
and his team to restore and
transform the memorial garden
area in Poble.

The team responded very quickly
to Mr. Sue Phillips request and
its been revealed by villagers that
the area is neat and tidy keeping the

our Memorial. ~~Positively~~ ~~improved~~.

My best regards,
Reid Emma Bradley, Holy Trinity
Poble

From: "Cllr. Andrew G. Stephens" <Andrew.Stephens@llanelli-rural.gov.uk>

Date: 29 October 2025 at 15:31:31 GMT

To: Laacchair@gmail.com

Cc: Andrew Stephens <andrewgs008@gmail.com>

Subject: Re: Llanelli Rural - New website enquiry

LLANELLI RURAL COMMUNITY COUNCIL	
DATE	30 OCT 2025
FILE REF.	
PASSED TO	CL

Dear Helen

Many thanks for your email and an update on Llanelli AC.

The donation comes from our Pemberton Ward allowance and was agreed with the other community councillors, and hopefully will go towards improving the facilities.

If it wasn't for Llanelli AAC, I wouldn't have started my running journey in April 2018 and enjoyed my time as Club Captain.

If there is anything that I can assist with then please get in touch and look forward to seeing Llanelli AAC grow within the community.

King regards
Andrew

Cllr Andrew Stephens
LRC - Pemberton Ward

T: 07799380549

E: Andrew.Stephens@llanelli-rural.gov.uk

E: andrewgs008@gmail.com

From: Llanelli Rural Council <noreply@llanelli-rural.gov.uk>

Date: 9 October 2025 at 20:33:53 BST

To: "Cllr. Andrew G. Stephens" <Andrew.Stephens@llanelli-rural.gov.uk>

Subject: Llanelli Rural - New website enquiry

Your Name

Helen Williams

Your Email Address

laacchair@gmail.com

I would like to contact...

Andrew Stephens

Your Message

Llanelli Amateur Athletic Club
Founded 1978
Affiliated to Welsh Athletics
President – Mr R. Paul Oram BSc, MBA

Mr Andrew Stephens
Llanelli Rural Council

9th October 2025.

Dear Andrew,

I am writing on behalf of the Club to thank you and your council for your very kind gesture of awarding a grant of £100 to Llanelli Amateur Athletic Club. Llanelli AAC is over 45 years old and has and continues to play a significant part in

promoting health and well- being in the community through sport. As you know we are based at Parc y Scarlets Pemberton Track and are so grateful that an all-weather track was installed at there in 2008.

The Club currently hire the track two evenings a week, coaching Juniors aged 9 to Under 20 from across Llanelli and the surrounding district, and we also have a senior's section who compete in a range of track, road and cross-country events. Our junior athletes are now increasingly achieving success and being recognised as real talent in Wales and the UK.

To continue to achieve success and play our part in serving the wider community we need the track facility in a good state of repair. Unfortunately, as you probably know, the track and throwing cage are in a very poor state of repair. We are liaising with the owners Carmarthenshire County Council and the lease holders Scarlets Regional Ltd to start the process of achieving a full refurbishment which is now long over- due. Progress on this is exceptionally slow, but we are determined to ensure the Llanelli community have access to a quality track facility. Some of the local schools would like to continue to hold their sporting events at the track, avoiding having to travel to Carmarthen. We would also like to bring sporting events back to Llanelli.

We have therefore put your grant towards emergency temporary patching of the holes in the synthetic track. This will allow athletes and local schools to be able to continue to use the 6 lanes safely. We have also used it to have a professional assessment of the throwing cage, to understand the work needed to bring it back into use. The patching of the track will "buy us time".

Thank you again for your continued support and your kind action has really made a significant difference.

Yours sincerely,

Helen

Helen Williams (Chair) Llanelli AAC. Laacchair@gmail.com 07862254264

GDPR Agreement

Ticking this box confirms you have read and understood the Council's privacy notice and you agree the Council may process your personal information for providing information and corresponding with you. This may include sharing your communication with Councillors or external agencies for information and/or action.

Sent from [Llanelli Rural Council](#)